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— Establishment of — Development of — Launched hardware products for — Winning of 2000 HK
the Group technologies smartcard system under the Industry Award
- REERIL and applications trademark of “HOMAC” - eSS FFBTFR

_ BT RIERRE — Awarded with important
smartcard and RFID projects in

Hong Kong
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— Listing on The Growth Enterprise Market of — Accreditation of ISO 9001:2000 Quality Assurance System
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited — Launched new ISO15693 product series and solutions

— Establishment of wholly owned PRC — Patent filing of ISO15693 based Smart Key Management System (SKMS)
subsidiary: ITE (China) Limited in Shanghai accepted by the State Intellectual Property Office of the

— Winning of 2001 HK Industry Award People’s Republic of China

— Acquisition of leading IT System Integrator, — Awarded with the first ISO15693 Smartlabel project in Hong Kong
Quesco Holdings Limited and Quesco — Strategic Business Agreement signed with Shanghai Public Traffic Card
Systems Limited on 7th December 2001 Company Limited (SPTCC) for the provision of value-added solutions and

- REBMSRIZHBRATRIFERMDB LM services to its user community

- RPEEBRIZENBAT : RISIHKEE — Entered into distributor agreement with Texas Instruments for marketing,
RHERAT sales and support of its product ranges

-NE_BFT—FEBIXER — Became the sub-issuer of MULTOS
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— Start geographical expansion into Macau

— Appointed as an international channel partner of Transcore, LP

— Patent filing of Automated Passenger Management System
(APMS) accepted by the State Intellectual Property Office of the
People’s Republic of China

— Accredited as one of the fastest growing technology companies
by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in the “2003 Asia Pacific
Technology Fast 500”

- EBIEE R

— % Transcore, LP ZEREIBRN AL
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— Successfully completed the ISO 9001:2000
Quality Assurance System Audit

— Awarded the Caring Company by The Hong Kong
Council of Social Service

— BIN5EAISO 9001:200000 5 E B EEERAMABE

- BEMFERESRERE R

— Contract award of the Macau SAR Customers Services
“Automated Vehicle Clearance System” & Public
Security Forces Affairs Bureau “Automated Passenger
Clearance System”

— QSL passed the ISO 9001:2000 Quality Assurance System

— Successfully completed the Hong Kong Marathon 2005

— Joined “Give Blood Give Live” — Blood Donation Day for
the Hong Kong Red Cross Blood Transfusion service
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— Establishment of Intellectual Property Rights Centre

— ITE Smartcard Solutions Ltd. implemented the first
Automated Passenger Clearance System (“APCS”)
of the Public Security Forces Services Bureau,
Macau SAR at the Barrier Gate Checkpoint

— ITE and Quesco staff completed the Hong Kong
Marathon 2006

— ITE and Quesco received the “Caring Company
Logo” by The Hong Kong Council of Social Welfare
for four years and two years respectively

— Successfully completed Exhibition in
“IT Week 2005” Macau

— The ITE Smart Key Management System Patent
was successfully granted by State Intellectual
Property Office of the People’s Republic of China
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Chairman’s Statement E£EH S

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”), | hereby
present the annual results for ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “ITE” or “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2006.

The mission of the Group is to become the leading smartcard, radio
frequency identification (“RFID”) and biometrics solution provider and
system integrator in the world. ITE has been pioneering smartcard system
solutions and integration and has been performing outstandingly in the
Hong Kong Special Administration Region (“Hong Kong” or “HKSAR”),
the Macau Special Administration Region (“Macau”) and the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”). With profound expertise, strong research and
development (“R&D”) capability, proven track record and excellent
reputation in the industry, the Group has established a leading profile in
the industry and has taken a proactive approach to introduce innovative
and customised smartcard, RFID and biometrics applications to our
clients. Leveraging on our extensive industry experience, ITE is
developing sophisticated products and multi-applications solutions for
clients from many industries and expanding our business activities to

overseas countries.

The Group is pleased to announce that our subsidiary, RF Tech Limited
(“RFT”), has been awarded “Hong Kong Awards For Industries 2005 -
Machinery and Equipment Design Award” for Automated Passenger
Management System (“APMS”).

The APMS is designed for high volume self-
service passenger clearance applications
such as border control or other secured

areas. It supports a variety of electronic
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engineering and automation. The system
has been installed in the border
checkpoint between Macau and the
Mainland and it has a high potential for

use in other similar border checkpoints.

The Presentation Ceremony, in a form of
Gala Dinner was held on 27 February
2006 at Hong Kong Convention and
Exhibition Centre. The Honorable Donald
Tsang, the Chief Executive of the HKSAR
had officiated at the Ceremony. It is the
third time that ITE received the Hong Kong
Industry Awards which values and
appreciates our innovation and R&D
capability. More important, the
accreditation came after the full and

successful launch of our APMS in Macau.

Besides receiving the technology award,
the Group continued to gain recognition
from society. We are pleased to receive
for the fourth consecutive year the Caring Company Logo Awards from
the Hong Kong Council of Social Service for our good corporate

citizenship, which the Group shall continue to practice actively.

| would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest thanks to my
directors, management and staff for their dedication and hard work, and

shareholders, financiers and business partners for their continual support.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June, 2006
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Management Discussion and Analysis &2 E &1 & 2 7

Management of the Group has continued to utilise our professional and
committed workforce and financial resources to achieve maximum return

to our shareholders.

Marketing and Operation

The Group continued to devote effort and time to develop and expand
our solutions, services and products lines for targeted clients. Sales in
the campus and real estates sectors have remained stable, while public
sector has been boosted with more government departments as clients

and users of smartcard.

During the year, we had the Hong Kong Country Club and the Macau
Wynn Resort joining our commercial client list, ITE Smartcard Solutions
Limited (“ITES”) provided for them automated vehicle management
system and card management system. We also engaged for the first
time an automatic fare control (“AFC”) system integration services for
the newest and biggest park in Hong Kong, the Hong Kong Wetland
Park (“HKWP”). ITES provided hardware, software and related services
for the AFC system integration, which includes visitor clearance gates,
automatic ticket vending machines and point of sales stations inside
HKWP. We were proud to co-operate with Wetland Park for taking part in

keeping a conservation park running smoothly.

Extensive marketing activities for the automated passenger management
system were conducted, ITES has tendered and offered for a number of
bids across the world included two sizeable projects in the Middle East

and Asia. The results should be announced in the next quarter.

During the year, our subsidiary, Quesco Systems Limited (“QSL”), won
the new T21 contract for the Provision of Information Technology (“IT”)
Contract Staff Services of the HKSAR and the contract for the Hong
Kong Hospital Authority. QSL also expanded the recruitment services to
overseas clients, with a number of IT contractor staffs referred to our
client in the Middle East. Besides, for the first time QSL seconded a

banking executive to our client in the United Kingdom.

In constant pursuit of quality excellence, we continued to improve the
professionalism of our workforce and developed specialists through
training and maintenance of our quality assurance system under the ISO

9001:2000 schemes of various subsidiaries.
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Research and Development

During the year, ITE has one patent, Smart Key Management System
(“SKMS”), successfully granted by the State Intellectual Property Office
of P.R.C. on 28th December 2005 under Grant No. ZL 02 1 36385.4
(International Classification No. E05B 19/00).

Our new design of Pre-fabricated Core Structure of Automated Passenger
Management System with Passenger Height Detection Sensor
Mechanism was also filed to and granted by the Intellectual Property
Department of HKSAR and European Union’s Registered Community
Design. Design registration in the United States of America was made

also.

The Group invents and develops lots of cutting edge products and
solutions every year. To strengthen our activities in invention and execute
intellectual property rights and knowledge capital strategy, ITE established
our Intellectual Property Rights Centre (“IPRC”) in March this year.
Besides better managing our knowledge as well as treasuring our
experience, IPRC is an important driving unit to boost potentiality of our
products and services in the market. We have well-scheduled, concrete
plans and strategies for the IPRC that benefits our Group of companies

through proper allocation and focus of our resources in IPR matters.

The Group devotes in protecting our own IPRs and respecting IPRs of
others. We have been carrying out such since the establishment of our
company. Till now, we have numbers of trademarks, registered designs,
granted and pending patents. We believe the effort of our staffs should
be treasured and sheltered to sustain our future competitiveness, and
the respect of IPRs is essential in building a level playing ground in our

society.

Social Responsibility

During the year, the Group has continued to execute our citizenship
through the active participation in social services. We also encouraged
our staffs to take part in sports activities so as to keep healthy life. Eight
of our staffs put on their running shoes to take part in the Standard
Chartered Hong Kong Marathon 2006 and successfully completed the
Marathon, setting record time and record number of participants in ITE’s

history.
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Along with the existing provisions of workplace attachment training for
the Youth Pre-employment Training Programme of the Labour Department
and the Business Internship Practice Scheme of the City University of
Hong Kong, the Group has confirmed to support the Work Study
Programme of the Chinese University of Hong Kong and the Industrial
Placement Programme of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in the
financial year 2006/07.

Looking forward, the outlook for the Group is very positive. After this
year’s profit recovery, we are optimistic that the financial year 2006/07
will also be profitable with positive cash flow and dividend paid-out
capability. On top of the profitability improvement, the Directors will
continue to maintain steady and sustainable growth of business in both
Hong Kong and the PRC. We also expect that in the financial year 2006/
07 another milestone of ITE will be established, namely to go overseas

and generate new revenue stream and profit.

For the year ended 31 March 2006, the Group recorded a total revenue
of approximately HK$65.7 million, representing an increase of 36% over
last year. Profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2006 was approximately HK$0.59
million as compared to a loss of approximately HK$15.6 million for the

last year.
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Turnover Breakdown by Main Business Segments

4%

5% 2004/05
11% 80% Consultancy fee
R & A
11% Smartcard systems, RFID and information technology services
BEERFSE © GG R E BB RTS
5% Provision of maintenance services
AR E RS
4% Sales of service related products
Bok SHE BRFS AR R E m
3%
6%
2005/06
57% Consultancy fee
BRI &R
34% Smartcard systems, RFID and information technology services
w5t ERRS - SR R A MR
6% Provision of maintenance services
AR E RS
57%
3% Sales of service related products
$HE RIS AR R

During the year, the Group recorded an increase in turnover for about
36% when compared with last year. The Group’s gross profit margin was

increased for about 63% from 12% in last year to 19% in current year.

During the year, the Group continued to concentrate its resources on its
core business development, i.e. to provide the smartcard systems, RFID
and information technology services. The significant increase in the overall
turnover was almost from the provision of smartcard systems, RFID and
information technology services. The service revenue generated from
this segment increased significantly for 320% to HK$22.5 million (2005:
HK$5.4 million). With the effort of R&D investments and marketing
activities taken in previous years, few sizeable projects was awarded

and completed in current year.
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Besides, within the same segment, the maintenance income increased
for 43% to HK$3.5 million (2005: HK$2.4 million). With the accumulated
projects completed in previous years, the associated maintenance and
service income increased generally. It is expected that this revenue stream

will increase generally in the near future.

For consultancy service segment, the turnover was maintained with only
2% drop when compared with last year. In spite of slightly drop in turnover,

the profit margin had been improved from 9% to nearly 13%.

The Group’s administrative expenses had significant decrease for
approximately 48%. The decrease was mainly due to the impairment
loss on goodwill amounted to HK$6.3 million in last year. Excluded the
said impairment loss on goodwill, the administrative expenses would be
HK$14.6 million which still represented a drop of 25% when compared
with that of current year. With our continual cost restructure and stringent
cost control, our overall general and administrative expenses decreased

during the year.

The finance costs increased by 71% to approximately HK$1.2 million for
the year (2005: HK$0.7 million) as a result of increases in interest rates

and borrowings.

The Group generally financed its operations with its internally generated
cash flows and bank borrowings. As at 31 March 2006, the Group had
outstanding borrowings of HK$11.1 million, comprising secured bank
loans of HK$5.4 million and bank overdrafts of HK$5.7 million. As at 31
March 2006, the current ratio of the Group was 1.17 (2005: 1.23) while
the liquidity ratio was 1.09 (2005: 1.13)

The Group continues to adopt a conservative approach towards its
treasury policy. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by
performing ongoing credit evaluations of the financial condition of its
customers. Besides, the Group’s liquidity and financing arrangements

are also reviewed regularly.

Taking into consideration the banking facilities granted, stringent cost
control and the existing financial resources available to the Group, it is
believed that the Group should have adequate financial resources to
meet its operation, development requirements and investments in the

future.
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The Group had no significant investments during the year under review.

During the year under review, the Group had no material acquisitions

and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

The Group recognises that its staff is one of the Group’s most important
assets. Aiming at providing competitive salary packages, the Group
adjusts employees’ salary level in close association with the performance,
qualifications and experience of individual staff as well as labour market
conditions. In addition to the regular remuneration, discretionary bonus
and share options may be awarded to eligible employees with reference

to individual performance and the Group’s business performance.

The Group enjoys good relations with staff and has not experienced any
disruption of operations due to major labour disputes. In addition to the
remuneration as mentioned above, the Group also provides fringe benefits
which comply with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC and
Hong Kong including contributions to society security scheme of the PRC
and contribution to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme of Hong Kong.
Besides, the Group also provides on-going training programmes for its
employees to keep them abreast of the latest market trends and new

technologies.

As at 31 March 2006, the Group had 191 full-time employees (2005: 160
full-time employees), of which 174 are based in Hong Kong and the rest
are in the PRC. Staff cost, including directors’ emoluments, was
approximately HK$45.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2006 (2005:
approximately HK$47.2 million). During the year, the Company has not

granted any share option to any of its Directors and employees.

As at 31 March 2006, time deposits of approximately HK$15.3 million
(2005: HK$13.6 million) and available-for-sale financial assets of HK$1.5
million (2005: HK$Nil) were pledged to banks to secure certain banking

facilities of the Group.
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The Group did not have any plans for material investment and acquisition

of material capital assets as at 31 March 2006.

At 31 March 2006, the gearing ratio of the Group, which is calculated as
the ratio of total secured bank loans due after one year to shareholders’
funds, was HK$nil (2005: HK$nil).

The Group’s assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars and Renminbi.
The exchange rate between Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars
and Renminbi has been very steady for the past few years. During the
year, the Group generally used the receipts from customers and bank
loans to pay its suppliers and meet its capital requirements. There are
denominated in the local currency of the place in which the subsidiaries
operate. The Group does not currently engage in hedging to manage
possible exchange rate risk as the Group considers the cost associated
with such hedging arrangements would exceed the benefits. However,
management will continue to monitor the possible exposure to exchange

rate risk and will take such measures as it deems prudent.

At 31 March 2006, the Company has undertaken to guarantee certain
banking facilities granted to two wholly-owned subsidiaries to the extent
of HK$19 million (2005: HK$15.6 million).

At 31 March 2006, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (2005: HKS$NIil).
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Corporate Governance Report i£¥ &8

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
emphasizing transparency, independence, accountability, responsibility
and fairness. The Board ensures that effective self-regulatory practices

exist to protect the interests of the shareholders of the Company.

The Company applied the principles and complied with all the code
provisions as set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the “Code”) contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 March 2006, save for the deviations

discussed below.

Under the code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be clearly established and

set out in writing.

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent is both the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company who is responsible for managing the Board and
the Group’s business. Mr. Lau has been both Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company since its incorporation. The Board
considers that, with the present board structure and scope of business
of the Group, there is no imminent need to separate the roles into two
individuals as Mr. Lau is perfectly capable of distinguishing the priority of
these roles in which he has been acting. However, the Board will continue
to review the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance structure
to assess whether the separation of the positions of Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer is necessary.

Under the code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Under the
code provision A.4.2 stipulates that all directors appointed to fill a causal
vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first general
meeting after their appointment, and every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation

at least once every three years.

Under the present Articles of Association of the Company, Mr. Lau Hon
Kwong, Vincent, being Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, is not subject to retirement by rotation. This is not in compliance
with the Code requirement that every director must retire by rotation once

every three years.
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Besides, the non-executive Directors do not have a specific term of
appointment, but are subject to rotation in accordance with the Articles
of Association of the Company (that at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not greater than one-third,
shall retire from office) provided that notwithstanding anything herein,
the chairman of the Board and/or the managing director of the Company
shall not, whilst holding such office, be subject to retirement by rotation
or be taken into account in determining the number of Directors to retire
in each year. At such, with the exception of the chairman, all Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation. The management considered that
there is no imminent need to amend the Articles of Association of the

Company.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2006. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have complied with such code of
conduct and the required standard of dealings throughout the year ended
31 March 2006.

The Board which currently comprises 7 Directors, is responsible for
supervising the management of the Group. Details of the Directors are
set in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this report. All Directors give sufficient time and attention

to the affairs of the Group.

All independent non-executive Directors, do not have any business or
significant financial interests with the Group and each of them have
confirmed annually their independence to the Group pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. No independent non-executive Director
has served the Group for more than 9 years. Based on the above-
mentioned, the Board considers that all independent non-executive

Directors were independent.

With the various experience of both the executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors and the nature of the Group’s
business, the Board considered that the Directors have a balance of

skills and experience for the business of the Group.
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The Board meets regularly at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. Such regular meetings will normally involve the active
participation, either in person or through other electronic means of

communication, of a majority of Directors entitled to be present.

During the year ended 31 March 2006, four board meetings were held

and the following is an attendance record of the meetings by each Director.

Attendance
Executive Directors
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 4/4
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 4/4
Mr. George Roger Manho 3/4
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 1/4
Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 4/4
Mr. Tsao Kwang Yung, Peter (passed away on 5 June 2005) 0/4
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry (appointed on 5 September 2005) 2/4
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 4/4

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss and formulate
the overall strategies of the Group, monitor financial performances and
discuss the annual, interim and quarterly results, as well as discuss and
decide on other significant matters. Execution of daily operational matters

is delegated to management.

Notice of regular board meeting is usually given at least 14 days in
advances to give all Directors an opportunity to attend. An agenda for
each Board Meeting will be prepared and normally distributed to the
Directors together with necessary Board materials papers at least 4 days
before the Board Meeting. Directors are free to add any items on the
agenda as they may think fit. The Company Secretary is responsible for
recording the matters considered and decisions reached by the Board
including any concerns or dissenting views expressed raised by Directors.
Minutes of Board Meetings and the Board Committees Meetings will be
sent to all Directors for their comments and records as soon as after the

board meeting.

Minutes of Board Meetings and Board Committees Meetings are kept by
the Company Secretary and such minutes are open for inspection within

reasonable advance notice.
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All Directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they
can ask for further information or retain independent professional advisors
if necessary. They also have unrestricted access to the advice and service
of the Company Secretary, who is responsible for providing Directors
with board papers and related materials and ensuring that board

procedures are followed.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder
or Director arise, the matter is discussed in an actual meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. Independent non-executive
Directors with no conflict of interest are present at meetings dealing with
conflict issues. Board committees, including the Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees, all follow the applicable practices and

procedures used in board meetings.

The Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
The Company did not segregate the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer. The role of the chief executive was performed by Mr.
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, who was the then existing chairman of the
Company during the year under review. Apart from the reason of such
deviation mentioned above, the Board also believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person provides
the Company with strong and consistent leadership, and allows for
effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions

and strategies.

The Board will periodically review the merits and demerits of such
management structure and will adopt such appropriate measures as may
be necessary in the future taking into consideration of the nature and

extent of the Group’s operation.
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As required by Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has established an audit committee which comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Tsao Kwang Yung,
Peter and Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, and an executive Director, Mr.
Liu Hoi Wah. Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen was appointed as chairman of the
audit committee. Following the death of Mr. Tsao Kwang Yung, Peter, Mr.
Tang Siu, Henry was appointed as an independent non-executive director

on 5 September 2005 and has served in the audit committee.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review the Company’s
annual report and accounts, half-yearly report and quarterly reports and
to provide advices and comments thereon to the Board. The audit
committee meets at least four times a year with management to review
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and to
discuss auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters. The terms
of reference of the audit committee was revised on 8 December 2005 to
bring it in line with the code provisions as set out in the Code. The principal
terms includes, inter alia, its relationship with the Company’s external
auditor, review of the Company’s financial information and oversight of
the financial reporting system and internal control procedures of the

Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2006, four audit committee meetings
were held and the following is an attendance record of the meetings by

each Director.

Name of Director Attendance
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 4/4
Mr. Tsao Kwang Yung, Peter (passed away on 5 June 2005) 0/4
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry (appointed on 5 September 2005) 2/4
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 4/4
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 0/4

The Group'’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2006 have
been reviewed by the audit committee, who is of the opinion that such
statements comply with the applicable accounting standards, the GEM
Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures had

been made.
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The Company established a remuneration committee on 1 August 2005
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Code. The roles
and functions of the remuneration committee included the determination
of the specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management of the Company, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, such as any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment, and make
recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of non-executive
Directors. Members of the remuneration committee as at 31 March 2006
comprised Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Tang Siu, Henry, Mr. Kam Hau
Choi, Anthony and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, with Dr. Lee Peng Fei,
Allen as chairman. A majority of the votes in the remuneration committee
are exercisable by independent non-executive directors. No director will

be involved in any discussion in connection with his own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 March 2006, two remuneration committee
meetings were held and the following is an attendance record of the

meetings by each Director.

Name of Director Attendance
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 2/2
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry (appointed on 5 September 2005) 1/2
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 2/2
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 2/2

The Company established a nomination committee on 8 December 2005
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Code. Members of
the nomination committee as at 31 March 2006 comprised Dr. Lee Peng
Fei, Allen, Mr. Tang Siu, Henry, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony and Mr. Lau

Hon Kwong, Vincent, with Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen as chairman.

The nomination committee shall meet before the annual general meeting
of the Company, or at other times as required by the chairman of the

nomination committee.

The role and function of the nomination committee included the

appointment and removal of Directors.
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The nomination committee will consider the background, experience and
qualification of any proposed candidates to ensure that the proposed
candidate posses the requisite experience, characters and integrity to

act as a Director of the Company.

The first nomination committee meeting was held on 23 June 2006. Details

of the attendance of the meeting are as follows:

Name of Director Attendance
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 11
Mr. Tang Siu, Henry (appointed on 5 September 2005) 11
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 11
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 11

During the meeting, members considered and resolved that all the existing
Directors shall be recommended to be retained by the Company. Further,
Mr. George Roger Manho and Mr. Tang Siu, Henry will retire from the
Board in accordance with Articles 108 and 112 of the Company’s Articles
of Association at the forthcoming annual general meeting, and, being

eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

The Company establishes and maintains different communication
channels with its shareholders through the publication of annual, half-
yearly and quarterly reports. Shareholders’ communications are also

available on the Company’s website.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders to
exchange views with the Board. The chairman as well as senior
management of the Company are available to answer shareholders’

questions.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial

statements of the Group.

The Directors’ responsibilities in the preparation of the financial statements

and the auditors’ responsibilities are set out in the Auditors’ Report.
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The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment, maintenance
and review of the Group’s system of internal control. The Board has
conducted a review of, and is satisfied with the effectiveness of the system

of internal control of the Group.

During the year, the external auditors, RSM Nelson Wheeler provided
annual audit and taxation advisory services to the Group. The Audit
Committee is responsible for considering the appointment of the external
auditors and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by the external
auditors of the Group. In particular, the Committee will consider, in
advance of them being contracted for such service, whether such non-
audit service could lead to any potential material conflict of interest.
Nothing has come to its attention to cause the Audit Committee to believe
that the non-audit services provided by the external auditors affect their
independence, objectivity and effectiveness in the audit process in

accordance with applicable standard.

For the year ended 31 March 2006, the fee payable to the auditors in
respect of audit services amounted to HK$340,000 while the fee payable
to the auditors in respect of non-audit services relating to the taxation
amounted to HK$46,000.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EE K S

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, aged 42, is an Executive Director, Chief
Executive Officer and one of the founders of the Group. He is responsible
for overall strategic planning and management of the Group. With over
19 years of experience in the executive management, Mr. Lau was
engaged in China trade before founding the Group. He graduated from
The University of Hong Kong with a first class honours Degree of Bachelor

of Science in Mechanical Engineering.

Mr. George Roger Manho, aged 43, is an Executive Director, Chief
Operating Officer and one of the founders of the Group. He is responsible
for marketing and project management of the Group. Mr. Manho has 18
years of experience in the control and automation industries, electrical
and mechanical projects and engineering management. He is a Chartered
Engineer and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Engineers, The
Institute of Marine Engineers and The Hong Kong Institute of Marine
Technology and the Institution of Fire Engineers. He holds a Master
degree in Engineering Studies in Mechanical Engineering from the
University of Sydney and a Bachelor of Science (Engineering) degree
with first class honours in Marine Engineering from the University of

Newcastle Upon Tyne.

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung, aged 43, is an Executive Director, Chief
Technology Officer and one of the founders of the Group. He is responsible
for technical management and research and development (R&D). With
22 years of experience in R&D and production management, Mr. Cheng
won the awards of the Hong Kong Awards for Industry for six times (one
Machinery and Equipment Design in 2005, one Consumer Product Design
in each of 1993, 2000 and 2001 and two Designs in 1997). He holds a
Higher Diploma in Electronics Engineering from the Hong Kong

Polytechnic.

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah, aged 37, is an Executive Director and Chief Finance
Officer of the Group. He is responsible for financial management,
accounting and corporate development. He joined the Group in March
2000. He is an associate member of each of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Mr. Liu is the younger brother
of Mr. H.K. Lau.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, CBE, BS, FHKIE, JP, aged 66, holds an honorary
doctoral degree in engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and an honorary doctoral in laws from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He was formerly a member of the Hong Kong Legislative Council
from 1978 to 1997 and a senior member of the Hong Kong Legislative
Council from 1988 to 1991. Dr. Lee was also a member of the Hong
Kong Executive Council from 1985 to 1992. He was appointed as the

Company’s independent non-executive director in December 2000.

Mr. Tang Siu, Henry, aged 61, is currently a Registered Chinese Medicine
Practitioner (Full Subjects), a director of a private company, the Principal
Consultant of Hong Kong Fire Services Staff General Association, the
Life and First President of the Hong Kong Professional Institute of Chinese
Medicine Medicated Meal & Food, a Consultant & member of Hong Kong
Registered Chinese Medicine Practitioners Association, the Deputy
Commission of the Friends of Scouting and a member of the Chartered
Institute of Arbitrators (East Asia Branch). Mr. Tang was Chief Fire Officer
Hong Kong Fire Command from 1993 to 2000. He holds a Master Degree
of Science (Major in Urban Planning), a Bachelor Degree of Law (Hons)
and a Fellow of the Faculty of Law of University of Wolverhampton the
United Kingdom. He was appointed as the Company’s independent non-

executive director on 5 September 2005.

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, aged 40, is the proprietor of a Certified
Public Accountant firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Kam holds a Bachelor of Laws
degree from the University of Wolverhampton, the United Kingdom, and
a Bachelor of Science degree from the University of Hong Kong. Mr.
Kam is a fellow member of the HKICPA, a fellow member of Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA”), an associate member of
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales and an affiliate
member of the Hong Kong Securities Institute. Besides, Mr. Kam is also
a member of Task Group in the HKICPA. Mr. Kam has over 17 years
experience in auditing, accounting and tax matters, both in private and
public companies. He was appointed as the Company’s independent non-

executive director on 30 September 2004.
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Senior Management

Mr. Yuk Wai Kwok, Simon, aged 41, is an associated director (Marketing
and Sales) of the Group. Mr. Yuk is responsible for business development,
sales and marketing of the Group. He is also in charge of the development
of business co-operation arrangement with vendor and partners in Hong
Kong, PRC, Macau and other overseas market. With 15 years of
experience in project management of IT industry, Mr. Yuk has been
involved in the sales and tendering process for several sizeable IT
projects. He was a project manager of a computer company for 10 years
before joining the Group in December 1999.

Mr. But Wui Fai, Cyrus, aged 38, is an associated director (Project and
Sales) of the Group. Mr. But is responsible for management of project
commissioning of the Group. With 15 years of experience in IT and RFID
industry on project management, systems design and implementation.
Mr. But had achieved numerous project assignments in government
sectors, public utilities, tertiary institutions and public listed companies.
He worked for 10 years in an IT consultancy company in Hong Kong
before joining the Group in September 2001.

Miss. Yeung Yuen Chun, Mona, aged 32, is the Financial Controller
and associated director of the Group. Miss Yeung is responsible for
managing the Group’s finance and accounting operations, performing
statutory and management reporting. Miss. Yeung has over 9 years in
auditing, accounting and financial analysis. She is an associate member
of the HKICPA and a fellow member of the ACCA. She graduated from
the Hong Kong Baptist University.

Mr. Bat Kwok Kwan, Baker, aged 31, is the Technical Manager of the
Group. Mr. Bat has more than 7 years in depth knowledge and experience
of the RFID and Smartcard technology sectors. With his wealth of hands
on knowledge and experience of the smartcard industry Mr. Bat carries
responsibility for the quality and performance of equipment, projects,
product and technology development for Smartcard and RFID solutions.
Mr. Bat works collaboratively within ITE’s teams to ensure the effective
management, integration and implementation of the company’s complex
RFID, smartcard, hardware and software products and services. Mr. Bat
holds a Master of Science in Computer and Information Technology and
Bachelor Degree of Engineering with honours in Computer Engineering
from the University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Luk Wai Suen, aged 57, is a Senior Consultant of the Group. Mr.
Luk is responsible for advising the system development for new product
development and the design of software system. With 25 years of
experience in R & D of system networking, Mr. Luk was the deputy chief
engineer of an electronics company for 13 years before joining the Group
in April 2000. He holds a degree in Computer Application from The
Shanghai Institute of Education.
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Directors’ Report EE 2R &

The directors submit their annual report together with the audited financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31 March
2006.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the financial

statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2006 are set

out in note 14 to the financial statements.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2006 and the state
of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in

the financial statements on pages 36 to 93.

No interim dividend (2005: HK$Nil) was paid during the year. The directors
do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31
March 2006 (2005: HK$Nil).

There is no arrangement under which a shareholder of the Company

has waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

Donation made by the Group during the year amounted to HK$3,160
(2005: HK$2,000).

Details of movements in fixed assets during the year are set out in note

15 to the financial statements.

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2006 are set

out in note 17 to the financial statements.
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Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31

March 2006 are set out in notes 26 and 27 to the financial statements.

Details of the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in

note 28 to the financial statements.

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the Laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing

shareholders.

Details of the Company’s share option schemes are set out in note 29 to

the financial statements.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the year.

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases attributable

to the major customers and suppliers during the year is as follows:

The largest customer BAEP

Five largest customers in aggregate ARE P4
The largest supplier BAHER
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AR ERE T

FEER -_EERF A=+ BZRITERLEMESH

=111’

BRI R 5 A M 726 5227

REFZARR BB 2 B8 BRI M 5 HRAM 28 -

RARMEBERBAINHAeREZRTERNETBER S
E - BEARRRFRTESL - REHIRRERRERHAL

AR B RO BB AR AT &R IE BN B S TR A RE29

RARREMBRARNANEEAMERERD - HEIBERALR

B2 (EfIRAD o

RAFER  AREXERFEIGHERRBRERERE

BRI

Percentage of the Group’s total

IEAEEAERSL
Sales Purchases
SHE R PRESHE
49.49% -
70.73% -
= 19.16%
- 67.28%



At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates or any
shareholders of the Company (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any

beneficial interest in the major customers and suppliers noted above.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 30(a) to the financial statements and

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity respectively.

At 31 March 2006, the Company’s reserves available for cash distribution
and/or distribution in specie amounted to approximately HK$Nil. Under
the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
of the Company is distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. The share

premium may also be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this

report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Mr. George Roger Manho
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen

Mr. Tsao Kwang Yung, Peter (passed away on 5 June 2005)
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony

Mr. Tang Siu, Henry (appointed on 5 September 2005)

Mr. George Roger Manho and Mr. Tang Siu, Henry, will retire from the
board in accordance with Articles 108 and 112 of the Company’s Articles
of Association at the forthcoming annual general meeting, and, being

eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.
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Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 22 and 24 of

the annual report.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and of the individuals with
highest emoluments of the Group are set out in notes 10 and 11 to the

financial statements respectively.

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung and Mr. Liu Hoi
Wah have entered into service contracts with the Company on 1 April
2006 for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 1 April 2006
which will continue thereafter until terminated by three months’ notice in

writing served by either party on the other.

Mr. George Roger Manho has entered into a service contract with the
Company on 23 December 2005 for an initial fixed term of one year
commencing from 1 January 2006 which will continue thereafter until
terminated by three months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other.

Except for the above, none of the directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has service contract which is
not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory

obligations.

No contract of significance to which the Company, its holding company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party, in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time

during the year.

EE7ERSNFRF22EF24HA -

REE 2 EEME RERHFALZFED BISPN U HRRM
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As at 31 March 2006, the interests and short positions of each director
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)), which were notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests and
short positions which they have taken or deemed to have taken under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which
were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”), to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

(i) Interests in shares of the Company
Personal Corporate

Name of director interests interests
BEA% EAER NSIL: 33
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent - 456,250,348 (L)
)3 (Note 2) (fiizE 2)
Mr. George Roger Manho 83,142,254 (L) -
BEETE
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung - 456,250,348 (L)
BRI s (Note 2) (fifsE 2)
Mr. Tsao Kwang Yung, Peter (deceased) 100,000 (L) -
BREREE (BRH)

Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shares.

2. These shares are beneficially owned by Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited

(“Rax-Comm”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent and Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung held 46.21%
and 36.11% of the entire issued share capital of Rax-Comm,
respectively.

REZZBBRF=A=1+—R0 ' ARAZESZRITHREZRE
EH KRG EGIE15.7 R E15.8(F 2 RTE - AR A
HHELEE (E& R (E S RAE R (B HBE1) S+ 180
ZBtn -~ MHEEO RESTER 2 EmRR (BERIEE
BRI 2 ZERERRBBLGIEREE 2 AEIAR) - HD
5| ARIBRE B IR PI B 352{5 T A F E 2 Rt A - SRR
BIZER AR AI5E5.46 =5 686G FTEL 2 AL AME AR A
REBMERZMABRRR ([BRHM]) 2 BEIORRET
W

(i) RN T) 2 RMDER=S

Number of ordinary shares

ERRREH
Percentage
of issued
Family Other share capital
interests interests Total HEET
Rk Aot CH L ENER
- - 456,250,348 (L) 50.27%
- - 83,142,254 (L) 9.16%
- - 456,250,348 (L) 50.27%
- - 100,000 (L) 0.01%
Bt &t
1. [LIFRTEHREE -
2. U E D R — RO B R K BB AL 2 A FIRax-

Comm (BVI) Limited ("Rax-Comm")fi#58 - 2|
EREERBEAESCEDFIFBRax-Comm
46.21%136.11% 2 E 31T (D °
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(ii) Interests in equity derivatives (as defined in the (ii) E’Q“Eﬁ%ﬁﬁx ZEMHBERMITETIAZ
= =& BR {5 451))

E‘I’

SFO) in, or in respect of, underlying shares e

REZTERF=A=1+—H ARREZEFERER
N EIERER BB T 2 BR R L AT RE AR AR
D BERERHEEAT 2 AR - GARERER
ERE ARE —IRERD ©

As at 31 March 2006, the directors had the following personal
interests in options to subscribe for shares of the Company
granted at HK$1 under a share option scheme of the Company.

Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one share.

1oday ,sJoloaliqg
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Number
of options Number of Price per
outstanding at shares acquired share
31 March 2006 on exercise of to be paid
RZZTREF options during on exercise
=Rk Period during which the year of options
Name of director RIATTHER) Date granted options exercisable ERIEERE | ORERENE
BENA fRRER A Riti B RRETEH MABORAHE | XEHERER
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 6,109,440 (L) 12 February 2001 | 21 August 2001 to 11 February 2011 - HK$0.095
ERTE e S = “Z35\f=+-B% 0.095% 7
ZT——%ZAt-H
Mr. George Roger Manho 4,000,000 (L) 12 February 2001 | 21 August 2001 to 11 February 2011 - HK$0.095
BIEmEE e S = “Z35\f=+-B% 0.095% 7
ZT——%ZAt-H
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 4,000,000 (L) 12 February 2001 | 21 August 2001 to 11 February 2011 - HK$0.095
HEEEE Z2T-FZAT=H Y e = Y 0.095/7C
“T——E-ft+-H
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 19,112,640 (L) 12 February 2001 | 21 August 2001 to 11 February 2011 - HK$0.095
AgErE e S = “Z3-5\f=+-B% 0.095% 7
ZT——%ZAt-H
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 1,760,000 (L) 12 February 2001 | 21 August 2001 to 11 February 2011 - HK$0.095
FEREE e S = “Z3-5\f=+-B% 0.095% 7
ZT——%ZAt-H

Note:  The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shares.

MiEE . [LIFRTEOB/ESR °




(iii) Aggregate interest in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company

(i) AT RAERERR D Z4EFH RS

Percentage to

Aggregate the issued
number in share capital of
Aggregate number underlying the Company
Name of director in ordinary shares shares Total EARRBIEETT
EENE B RT MR 1 # 5T CEil RAZBE AL
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 456,250,348 (L) 6,109,440 (L) 462,359,788 (L) 50.95%
BER KL
Mr. George Roger Manho 83,142,254 (L) 4,000,000 (L) 87,142,254 (L) 9.60%
RS
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 456,250,348 (L) 4,000,000 (L) 460,250,348 (L) 50.71%
BRI ST A
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah - 19,112,640 (L) 19,112,640 (L) 2.11%
2L L
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen - 1,760,000 (L) 1,760,000 (L) 0.19%
FHERELE
Mr. Tsao Kwang Yung,
Peter (deceased) 100,000 (L) - 100,000 (L) 0.01%
BRI A (BEHE)

Note:  The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2006, none of the directors,
chief executive of the Company or their associates had any interests in
the shares or debentures of, or short positions in the shares of, the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they have taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the
GEM Listing Rules, were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Mzt s [LIFRTEOHR/ER -

AT EEN  R=EEARE=A=+—H8 EF 17
BB E Bk 15 55 2 B e A AR AR R ER 1K 155 15.7 )R 15.8 15
AR RIS EAEAIAREEEE (& R & Hﬂﬂﬂﬂ%+£*5)%ﬁﬁ
MR k&S 2 SOk R (RIERIEFIEH 2 ZF R EH
RANRNER G 2 BmsoRR) - MBS AIRIRE ERIEH]
E352{F T AT E 2 &R MA - SURIKRAIZR EWARAIE
5.46%5.68 {6 FTEL < # RN B 2NN 7] KB 22 T 2 (E ] 1
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Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company or any Associated Corporations”,
as at 31 March 2006, neither the Company, holding company nor any of
its subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
and chief executive of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities, including debentures, of the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the directors and
chief executive of the Company or their spouses or children under the
age of 18, had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company,

or had exercised any such rights.

The register of substantial shareholders maintained under Section 336
of the SFO shows that as at 31 March 2006, the Company had been
notified of the following interests, being 5% or more of the issued share

capital of the Company:

Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited (Note 1)

Mr. George Roger Manho (Note 2) BEEELE (FHiEE2)

Mr. Man Kai Shun XSRS
Notes:
1. These shares have been disclosed as the corporate interests of the relevant
directors in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company or any Associated Corporations”.
2. These shares have been disclosed as the personal interests of the director in

the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company

or any Associated Corporations”.

Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited (fff5£1)

B PA il (B % M AT AREN A A Bkt & AR 2 B i - 48
B REHSRARIREN  RBEREF=A=+—
B ARA - EERAFSEMBR RS ESEER R - (£
RAREERITRERAIFEZB AR R R REFEMEAR
Bz EBES (BEES) MESHE  MARAES
RATHABE S E 2 BB S EARIAR + \BR . F AR AE (]
A RBARABS 2N - TMEITREEMZEEM -

VNN 8721 {I§1§\J§E@'336“§K;ﬁiﬁ§z$ SR
BE R-TTAFZA=+—R  UTRERASAFD
BITIRA %R L 2 S -

Percentage
of total
Ordinary issued shares
shares held 1EE TR
B i i AR A 2 BEtEDLL
456,250,348 50.27%
83,142,254 9.16%
47,701,000 5.26%

Wi

1. EEROEREFRIRSRRAADIBERT LK
5 ABEN RESRAR | - HRBEREEZ AT

2. ZERHEREFROBERNADAIBERRZR
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A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the latest five years is set out on page 94 of the Company’s
annual report for the year ended 31 March 2006.

As at 31 March 2006, the Directors were not aware of any business or
interest of each Director, management shareholder and the respective
associates of each that competes or may compete with the business of
the Group and any other conflicts of interest which any such persons
have or may have with the Group.

Retails of the retirement benefit schemes of the Group and the employer’s
costs charged to the income statement for the year are set out in note 31
to the financial statements.

The emolument policy regarding the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee and is based on their merit, qualifications
and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to

directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme is set out in note
29 to the financial statements.

A resolution for the re-appointment of RSM Nelson Wheeler as auditors
of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

By order of the board of directors

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2006
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Auditors’ Report #% 2Bl & &5

RSM Nelson Wheeler
& A X 8§ F B 17
Certified Public Accountants

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ITE (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements on pages 36 to 93 which have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in Hong Kong.

The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation of financial
statements which give a true and fair view. In preparing financial
statements which give a true and fair view it is fundamental that

appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit,
on those financial statements and to report our opinion solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards

or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes
an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the
directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether
the accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the
Company and of the Group, consistently applied and adequately

disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us
with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement. In forming our
opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of
information in the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides

a reasonable basis for our opinion.

BITE (HOLDINGS) LIMITED% B &
(RASHEFMNLZERAR])
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In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2006
and of the Group’s results and cash flows for the year then ended and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

RSM Nelson Wheeler

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23 June 2006
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Consolidated Income Statement Z= & W IR

36

For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z_-ZZXF=A=+—HBILFE UABTHIE)

2006 —ZFTRF 2005 —ZZTHF

Notes § 7 $ 7

o P % " 7
§ Turnover E 6, 14 65,725,317 48,470,321
§
o Cost of services rendered B IR HARTS 2 B A (52,176,896) (41,531,535)
o
_ Cost of goods sold BEEEM KA (1,159,083) (1,321,065)
5
o
= Gross profit 7 12,389,338 5,617,721
» Other income E AU 6 602,144 461,851
% Administrative expenses THRER (11,001,858) (20,960,143)
:
- Profit/(loss) from operations "N, (EE) 7 1,989,624 (14,880,571)
“";‘? Finance costs BhE AR 8 (1,245,864) (728,781)
il
=
Bk Profit/(loss) before taxation BRBIADREF (B518) 743,760 (15,609,352)
211

Taxation TIA 9 (150,000) -

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable  RAFRRELFR

to shareholders of the Company wmF (E1R) 12 593,760 (15,609,352)
Earnings/(loss) per share BRER, (HE) 13
Basic HAK 0.07 cent il (1.72 cents 1)

Diluted e N/A 58 N/A i@ A

9002-5002 14043 TVYNNNY
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Consolidated Balance Sheet I8 EEAER

At 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) N —ZZXF=A=+—H GAETIE)

2006 —ZFZTRF 2005 —ZEZThF

Notes _ =
fizE E L o
Non-current assets FREBEE é
Fixed assets BEEEE 15 361,123 662,436 =
Goodwill e 16 = = =
Investment securities REFES 18 - 2,249,670 i
Available-for-sale financial assets AHHESREE 19 3,527,893 = ;_’
5
3,889,016 2,912,106 Z
Current assets RBEE =
Trading securities EEEH 20 - 21,670 2
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEEFABZTRE 2
profit or loss BE 21 22,260 - FD
Inventories FE 22 1,932,196 2,059,649 %
Trade and other receivables JEWE 5 K E AR X 23 9,825,160 7,406,546 )
Deposits and prepayments A RFEER 682,278 674,507 o
Pledged bank balances EARITER 32(c) 15,323,997 13,594,808 o
Bank and cash balances RITRIR AR 160,053 347,201
27,945,944 24,104,381
Current liabilities X =Ri
Creditors and accrued charges FERTIRFR X ERTE 24 12,666,244 10,240,889
Short term borrowings EHEE 26 11,134,079 8,879,949
Current portion of long term secured REBEARITERZ
bank loan BNHEAER (5 27 - 416,630
Provision for taxation TRIER 8,077 - >
23,808,400 19,537,468 §
Net current assets REEETFE 4,137,544 4,566,913
Net assets BEFE 8,026,560 7,479,019 3
Capital and reserves BEXREE
Share capital &N 28 9,075,360 9,075,360 %1
Reserves i (1,048,800) (1,596,341) )
Shareholders’ funds RRES 8,026,560 7,479,019

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23 June

2006.
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Director

Cheng Kwok Hung

Director

2IEX B 1
5= 5=
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement &2 &

For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Amortisation of goodwill
Impairment loss on goodwill
Allowances for obsolete inventories
Net unrealised (gain)/loss on financial
assets at fair value through profit or
loss/trading securities
Loss on disposals of fixed assets

Impairment loss on available-for-sale

financial assets/investment securities

Gain on disposals of trading securities

Dividend income from financial assets
at fair value through profit or
loss/trading securities

Investment income from
available-for-sale financial assets

Interest income

Interest expense

Operating profit/(loss) before working
capital changes

(Increase)/decrease in trade and
other receivables

Increase in deposits and prepayments

Decrease in inventories

Increase/(decrease) in creditors and

accrued charges

Cash generated from operations
Interest paid
Tax refund received

Tax paid

Net cash generated from operating

activities

REXBHRASRE

BBIATEM, (B1R)
RIS IR FE
e
[k 5
BEZRERE
BRFERE

BATEEMABRSRR

BEXEEEF AR F

(Wz),EiE
HEETEEERE
HEESREERIRE

BH 2R EEE
PEETHS 2 W

BRAFEENAER

EENEEERY

LSRN
HEESRMEEY

REBA

il

R 5 R E AR
CH) D
TR RITBEREN

HEAD
IR 3 A
s,/ (R2)

EBELRS
2 Z
BUCRT
=Y 0

mEEE
ReHE

2006 —ZFTRF

$T

743,760

476,397

(590)
3,331

241,165

(282)

(24,960)

(322,664)

1,245,864

2,362,021

(2,418,614)

(7,771)

127,453

1,450,506

1,513,595

(1,245,864)

(141,923)

125,808

=RA=t—HLLFEETIIE)

2005 —ZZTHF

$ T

(15,609,352)

685,288
950,792
6,338,616
280,000

10,080
113,000

234,340
(32,755)

(1,339)

(25,077)
728,781

(6,327,626)

8,142,958

(34,015)

302,781

(502,194)

1,581,904

(728,781)
51,004

904,127



For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZE—ZZRXF=A=+—HFEF CABTIIE)

2006 —ZFZTRF 2005 —ZEZThF

Note _ =
fisE E L o
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHHRSRE a
ACTIVITIES %
Purchases of fixed assets BEETCEE (181,172) (121,413) %
Purchases of trading securities BEEEFES - (188,495) o
Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets & E T &E 2 F{530E 3,600 26,814 Q
Proceeds from disposals of trading HEBERFZMSHRA )
securities - 288,250 =
Acquisition of available-for-sale BETHEESREE o
financial assets (1,559,400) - =
Investment income from available-for-sale ] & & @& E 2 HE WA %
financial assets 24,960 = o
Dividend income from financial assets RATEESABZEMEE g
at fair value through profit or HBEEFRFZREMA =
loss/trading securities 282 1,339 a5
Interest received B UALE 322,664 25,077 op
i
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEEE (FTA) EE t»
investing activities ReFE (1,389,066) 31,572 }TEE
B 21
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BMEITHEESRE
ACTIVITIES
Increase in pledged bank deposits BRI TEFIG N (1,729,189) (9,885)
New bank loans FTIRITER - 10,797,714
Other borrowings obtained HhE»R 974,849 -
Repayment of bank loans EERBITER (419,444) (14,193,730)
Net cash used in financing activities BMEFDTAREFE (1,173,784) (3,405,901)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERRSEEYRD %
CASH EQUIVALENTS (2,437,042) (2,470,202) =
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FUNzEeRRESEEY %
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR (3,132,925) (662,723)
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes [EX& &) 2 & (7,050) -
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R=B=+—HZzHEEE
AT 31 MARCH REZEY (5,577,017) (3,132,925)
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF ReRESEENEHR I .
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances RITRIR B EH 160,053 347,201
Bank overdrafts RITEX 26 (5,737,070) (3,480,126)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS MR=A=+—HzHER
AT 31 MARCH REZEY (5,577,017) (3,132,925)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity &R & xS B8 Xk

For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Balance at 1 April 2004 RZZZTNENA—-BEH

Loss for the year FNER
Total recognised income and ERERARAR
expense for the year FHBE

Balance at 31 March 2005 and
at 1 April 2005

R-FTRFZAZT-ER
—ZERENA—A&EH

Exchange difference arising on REINEBFEE L
translation of foreign operation EHER

Decrease in fair value of AHHESRERC AT
available-for-sale financial assets ~ {EfEji %

Net expense recognised directly ~ FRNEZEZER L
in equity SHFE

Profit for the year FRET]

Total recognised income and FREBARAR
expense for the year it

Balance at 31 March 2006 RZEEF=A=+—H

&8

Share

capital

A
(note 28)
(fit3x 28)

$7T

9,075,360

9,075,360

9,075,360

Share

premium

DR (E
(note 30 (b))
(FifzE 30(b))

$1

22,816,249

22,816,249

22,816,249

BEZTRF=A=1+—HILFE BB

Reserves
Foreign
currency . Investment
Merger translation ' revaluation ' Accumulated
reserve reserve reserve losses Total
INBRER, REfE
Bt &6 &6 ZREER Eh
(note 30 (c))
(Pi7E 30(c))
$7t $ 7 $7 $7 $7
10,748,910 - - 1(19,552,148)' 23,088,371
- - - 1(15,609,352)  (15,609,352)
- - - (15,609,352) (15,609,352)
10,748,910 - - 1(35,161,500): 7,479,019
- 59,317 - - 59,317
- - (105,536) - (105,536)
- 59,317 (105,536) - (46,219)
- - - 593,760 593,760
- 59,317 (105,536) 593,760 547,541
10,748,910 59,317 (105,536) (34,567,740) 8,026,560



Balance Sheet —the Company EE& &R — A& A7

At 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) N —ZZXF=A=+—H GAETIE)

2006 —ZFZTRF 2005 —ZEZThF

Notes § = $ 7
isE 7 7 o
Non-current assets FRBEE 2
Interests in subsidiaries RETB AR 2 = 17 4,000,000 7,739,951 o
»
®
Current assets REEE @
Other receivables H A fE ULR 5K 23 4,064,863 139,703 I
Bank and cash balances RITRBE S84 2,397 2,041 g
S
4,067,260 141,744 3
>
2
Current liabilities REAE
Accrued charges and other payables FEETE A I ELAh FE S IR X 24 811,857 402,676 WM
i
piiig
Net current assets/(liabilities) RBEE (BE) FE 3,255,403 (260,932) m
b1
\
Net assets BEFE 7,255,403 7,479,019 ENE
5
B
Capital and reserves EXRFEE
Share capital %N 28 9,075,360 9,075,360
Reserves R 30 (1,819,957) (1,596,341)
Shareholders’ funds BRES 7,255,403 7,479,019

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors BEEERN BT RFANAS = BRAE RERETE -
on 23 June 2006.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent Cheng Kwok Hung ZIERX BRER 1
Director Director = 2%
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Notes to Financial Statements B #& 3 3% M 5%

For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is
Century Yard, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681 GT,
George Town, Grand Cayman, British West Indies. The address
of its principal place of business is Units 1717-20, Level 17, Tower
1, Grand Century Place, 193 Prince Edward Road West, Mongkok,
Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the financial

statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, as at 31 March
2006, Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands, is the immediate parent and ultimate parent

of the Company.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprises
Market of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain

investments which are carried at their fair values.

—EEREZA=THIEFE CUETTIE)

RRABIRBERSHSARE - NSRS M
K—HREREBERAR - Hixfi B RCentury
Yard, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681 GT, George Town, Grand Cayman, British
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BPI1935R Mt AL IS — B+ 18171721720 -
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5k e
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TN B AR R B R Z B S A 2 Rax-Comm
(BVI) Limited °

W EFBRIBERE SRS H M 2 BB
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires the use of certain key assumptions and estimates. It
also requires management to exercise its judgements in the
process of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving
critical judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to these financial statements, are disclosed in note

5 to the financial statements.

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA that are relevant to its operations
and effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2005. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs
did not result in substantial changes to the Group’s accounting
polices and amounts reported for the current year and prior years

except as stated below.

Financial instruments

The adoption of HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
and HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement has resulted in a change in the accounting policy
relating to the classification of financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss and available-for-sale financial assets.

HKAS 39 does not permit to recognise, derecognise and measure
financial assets and liabilities in accordance with this standard
on a retrospective basis. The Group applied the previous
Statement of Standard Accounting Practice (“SSAP”) 24
Accounting for Investments in Securities to investments in
securities for the 2005 comparative information. The adjustments
required for the accounting differences between previous SSAP
24 and HKAS 39 are determined and recognised at 1 April 2005.

“ERRFE=ZA=T+—HIEFE CABTIE)
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z_-ZZXF=A=+—HBILFE UABTHIE)

Financial instruments (continued) =/l T A (&)

TR RS R E32 B30k - BT BRA M
T2EE -

The adoption of HKAS 32 and 39 resulted in changes in the

amounts reported in the financial statements as follows:

Z
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2006 —ZZNF 2005 —TTRHF
$ T $ T
Increase in available-for-sale financial AL EeREE
assets &N 2,249,670 -
Decrease in investment securities WEEF R 2,249,670 -
Increase in financial assets at fair value ZAFEETAESZSHEE
;f;'; through profit or loss 0 21,670 -
e Decrease in trading securities BEEZESMD 21,670 -
b1
i The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have been NEE W ERA B BMHERERZ YIS RE %
issued but are not yet effective. The application of these new Bl - MERA Lt SR SRR AN B 2 4R & B
HKFRSs will not have material impact on the consolidated BRI EBEATE
financial statements of the Group.
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of B SR A TS RERER . EESEEGRIT ¢
these financial statements are set out below.
% (a) Consolidation (a) #rEMRAE

n

002

c
3

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group
has control. Control is the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits
from its activities. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible
are considered when assessing whether the Group has

control.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-

consolidated from the date the control ceases.

FaMBRRBEAARRANBRAREE
ZA=t+—BZHBEHE - WBARERE
REEAEHIET LR SRR 2 B
ReEIRE RS FIaE - ARHEAREE A
— BB BERERATERAERL
/%{E&KTEEQT?E&H\%@ e

MBAR A EEtREE T AREE RigRa
AR - WAL LS BZ IEARA AR



For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary represents
the difference between the proceeds of the sale and the
Group’s share of its net assets together with any goodwill
or capital reserve relating to the subsidiary which was not
previously charged or recognised in the consolidated
income statements and also any related accumulated

foreign currency translation reserve.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
profits on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency

with the policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s balance sheet, an investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less allowance for impairment
losses. The result of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividends received and

receivable.

Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the

Company'’s functional and presentation currency.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(b)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s

financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing on the transactions dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the rates ruling on the balance sheet
date. Profits and losses resulting from this
translation policy are included in the income

statement.

Translation differences on non-monetary items,
such as equity instruments classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.
Translation difference on non-monetary items,
such as equity instruments classified as available-
for-sale financial assets, are included in the

investment revaluation reserve in equity.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different
from the Company’s presentation currency are
translated into the Company’s presentation

currency as follows:

- assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate

at the date of that balance sheet;
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(b)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iii)

Translation on consolidation (continued)

- income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not
a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the

dates of the transactions); and

- all resulting exchange differences are
recognised as in the foreign currency

translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in foreign
entities and of borrowings are recognised in the
foreign currency translation reserve. When a
foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are recognised in the consolidated
income statement as part of the profit or disposal

on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translation

at the closing rate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(c)

(d)

Fixed assets

Fixed assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated

depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are expensed in the income statement

during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of fixed assets is calculated at rates sufficient

to write off their cost or revalued amounts less their

residual values over the estimated useful lives on a

straight-line basis. The principal annual lives are as

follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 4 years

Furniture and fixtures 4 years

Computer and other equipment 4 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,

and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

The gains or loss on disposal of a fixed asset is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant assets, and is recognised

in the income statement.

Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are expensed in the income statement on a

straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(e)

()

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-
out basis. The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of all production overhead expenditure, and/
or, where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to render

services or make the sales.

Service contracts

When the outcome of a service contract can be estimated
reliably, contract costs are recognised as an expense by
reference to the stage of completion of the contract at the
balance sheet date. When it is probable that total contract
costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss
is recognised as an expense immediately. When the
outcome of a service contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense in the period

in which they are incurred.

Service contracts in progress at the balance sheet date
are recorded in the balance sheet at the net amount of
costs incurred plus recognised profit less recognised
losses and progress billings, and are presented in the
balance sheet as the “Gross amount due from customers
for contract work” (as an asset) or the “Gross amount due
to customers for contract work” (as a liability), as
applicable. Progress billing not yet paid by the customer
are included in the balance sheet under “Trade and other
receivables”. Amounts received before the related work
is performed are included in the balance sheet, as a

liability, as “Trade and other payables”.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(9)

Investments

Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an investment is
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the
investment within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus
directly attributable transaction costs except in the case

of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Debt securities with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturity and that the Group has the positive intention
and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-
maturity investments. Held-to-maturity investments are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses.

An impairment loss is recognised in income statement
when there is objective evidence that the held-to-maturity
investments are impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the investments’ carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition. Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent
periods when an increase in the investments’ recoverable
amount can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised, subject to the
restriction that the carrying amount of the investments at
the date the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment

not been recognised.

Investments other than held-to-maturity investments are
classified as either financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss or available-for-sale financial assets.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(9)

Investments (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
either investments held for trading or designated as at
fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition.
These investments are subsequently measured at fair
value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value
of these investments are included in income statement

for the period.

Available-for-sale financial assets are investments not
classified as held-to-maturity investments or financial
assets at fair value through income statement. Available-
for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair
value of these investments are recognised directly in
equity, until the investments are disposed of or are
determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative
gains or losses previously recognised in equity are
included in income statement for the period. Impairment
losses recognised in income statement for equity
investments classified as available-for-sale financial
assets are not subsequently reversed through income
statement. Impairment losses recognised in income
statement for debt instruments classified as available-for-
sale financial assets are subsequently reversed if an
increase in the fair value of the instruments can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the

recognition of the impairment loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(h)

1))

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment. An allowance for impairment of trade and
other receivables is established when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all
amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.
The amount of the allowance is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective
interest rate. The amount of the allowance is recognised

in the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. For the
purpose of the cash flow statement, bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of an
Group’s cash management are also included as a

component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument. An equity instrument is
any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets
of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities

and equity instruments are set out below.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(k)

0

(m)

(n)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured

at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet

date.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are

stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded

at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue recognition

(i) Service revenue

Service revenue comprises revenue from
smartcard systems, radio frequency identification
(“RFID”) and information technology and related
service contracts, and electrical and mechanical

installation work and related service contracts.

HEZZTAF A=+ —ALLFE GUETHE)
(k) fEBE
EENSEATEBERERZRATE - &

&8 A B AR HIZE B AR ARHE -

BRIEA B A REERTRHER A E B HRT
EREEARELTEA - BREFEBE

i

() ENESRAEAmRRK
[N B 5 R EMIRTIRAFEEDR - Hig

AR BRI ORI A TIE - BREIR
FEIK  EZBERT - ARRASIE

(m) BRATEH

RARETZRATE - LFTREZ FiSR
BB R BEITRATIR

(n) UW=mER
0) AR5 Wz
RIS = BRIEERER RS « 57984

A~ BB ABRRE AL - #
BRRTREMBBE S

Z
(@)
=
D
o
o
o
=
=
()
L
=
o
=
2,
)
w
o
©
=
(¢
3
D
=
=
o

£ - |

140d3¥ TYNNNY

5002

9002~

paywi (sbuipjoH) 311



For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(n) Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Service revenue (continued)

Revenue from individual service contracts is
recognised under the percentage of completion
method, measured by reference to the percentage
of contract costs incurred for work performed to
date to the estimated total contracts costs for each
contract. When the outcome of a service contract
cannot be estimated reliably revenue is recognised

only to the contract costs incurred.

Consultancy fee income

Consultancy fee income is recognised when the

consultancy services are rendered.

Income from maintenance services

Income from maintenance services is recognised
on a straight line basis over the term of the

maintenance service contracts.

Income received or receivable in respect of
services which have not been completed on or
before the balance sheet date are shown in the

balance sheet as deferred maintenance income.

Sales of goods

Revenues from the sales of manufactured goods
and trading of raw materials are recognised on the
transfer of risks and rewards of ownership, which
generally coincides with the time when the goods
are delivered and the title has passed to the

customers.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(n)

(0)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(v)

(vi)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion

basis using the effective interest method.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the

shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been

established.

Employee benefits

(i)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to

the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
or paternity leave are not recognised until the time

of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to the
income statement represents contributions

payable by the Group to the funds.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z_-ZZXF=A=+—HBILFE UABTHIE)

zZ
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(E (o) Employee benefits (continued) (o) EEBEH &)

o

::D-' (i) Termination benefits (iii) KILERBA

-~

= Termination benefits are recognised when, and RIEERBFRN (BER) REEAR
3_ only when, the Group demonstrably commits itself S E BRI ER 2 EE 1EH AR
= to terminate employment or to provide benefits as % BEBERFMIER 2 B FEEER;
g a result of voluntary redundancy by having a T8l GZaT 2B _E T ATREEUH) 12
g detailed formal plan which is without realistic HABFIE T LARER o

S possibility of withdrawal.

(72}

i (p) Borrowings costs (p) fBERRA
o5
puy
it All the borrowing costs are recognised in the income 2MEERTIREE 2 FEA AWK °
; statement in the period in which they are incurred.
(q) Taxation (q) FiE

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax FTSHi i S PR 2R A A5 SR AR IR

currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payables is based on taxable profit for R RN TIE TR A EEARTOR M H -

the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in JERBE A U ES = AP FTa AR - T9E
> the income statement because it excludes terms of income TR B HE T HAth S 5 FE R 3 AT A3 U
§ or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years AR - BT EERERRKT R
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using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
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enacted by the balance sheet date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(a)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using
the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction which affects

neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint venture,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply to the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date. Deferred tax is charged or credited to the income
statement, except when it relates to items charged or
credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax

is also dealt with in equity.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(a)

(r)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and

liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group
that is engaged either in providing products or services
(business segment), or in providing products or services
within a particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are

different from those of other segments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting,
the Group has determined that business segments be
presented as the primary reporting format and

geographical as the secondary reporting format.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities
include items directly attributable to a segment as well as
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to the

segment.

Unallocated costs represent corporate expenses.
Segment assets consist primarily of fixed assets, goodwill,
inventories and trade receivables. Segment liabilities
comprise operating liabilities. They exclude items such

as taxation and corporate borrowings.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(r)

(s)

Segment reporting (continued)

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities
are determined before intra-group balances and intra-
group transactions are eliminated as part of the
consolidation process, except to the extent that such intra-
group balances and transactions are between group
enterprises within a single segment. Inter-segment pricing
is based on similar terms as those available to other

external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred
during the year to acquire segment assets (both tangible
and intangible) that are expected to be used for more than

one year.

In respect of geographical segment reporting, sales are
based on the countries in which customers are located.
Total assets and capital expenditure are based on where

the assets are located.

Related parties

Two parties are considered to be related if one party has
the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party
or exercise significant influence over the other party in
making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to common
control or common significant influence. Related parties
may be individuals (being members of key management
personnel, significant shareholders and/or their close
family members) or other entities and include entities
which are under the significant influence of related parties
of the Group where those parties are individuals, and post-
employment benefit plans for the benefit of employees of
the Group or of any entity that is a related party of the
Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

)

Impairment of assets

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
except goodwill to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the

risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in the income statement, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation

decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the
income statement, unless the relevant asset is carried at
a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the

impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(u) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year,
are discussed below.

Revenue and profit recognition

The Group estimated the percentage of completion of the service
contracts by reference to the proportion that contract costs
incurred for work performed to date to the estimated total costs
for the contracts. When the final cost incurred by the Group is
different from the amounts that were initially budgeted, such
differences will impact the revenue and the profit or loss
recognised in the period in which such determination is made.
Budget cost of each project will be reviewed periodically and
revised accordingly where significant variances are noted during
the revision.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z_-ZZXF=A=+—HBILFE UABTHIE)

= The amount of each significant category of turnover and revenue FRN - ZFEASBHEANDERREFEE R G 25
‘E recognised during the year is as follows: U
o
c% 2006 —ZFZNF 2005 —TZTRHF
T $T $T
3 Turnover EE
g. Provision of smartcard systems, RFID RIS R RS - FIEER R
., and information technology services BB AR
o) — Service revenue — RS 22,505,247 5,354,658
% — Income from maintenance services —REBIRIEWA 3,492,017 2,442 608
% — Sales of service related products —HE RSB E M 2,045,432 2,045,254
\w 28,042,696 9,842,520
?l; Consultancy fee income FRES1ON 37,682,621 38,541,801
H Service revenue from provision of RIEEE LR TR 2 Rl
i* electrical and mechanical
n:t installation work - 86,000
65,725,317 48,470,321
Other income Hapg A
Interest income B A 322,664 25,077
Dividend income from financial assets RATEBESABREREE
at fair value through profit or HEEZFZREWA
loss/trading securities 282 1,339
= Dividend income from investment FEFEF 2 REMA
: securities — 305,061
j%; Investment income from AHEEeREE 2 RERA
A available-for-sale financial assets 24,960 -
Compensation for secondment of staff ETHARZHE 120,000 -
Sundry income EHdgA 134,238 130,374

Total other income HEU A AT 602,144 461,851
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZE—ZZRXF=A=+—HFEF CABTIIE)

Profit/(loss) from operations is arrived at after charging/(crediting): wERF (B8R Bk GrA) ¢ g
>
2006 —ZBTRF 2005 —ETHF S
$ T $ T >
Exchange (gain)/loss fE 5 (as) 518 (120,648) 16,261 =
Gain on disposals of trading securities HEEREH < Wa - (32,755) E'
Net unrealised loss on trading securities XA FEEIIKEEESZ g
carried at fair value RETFEE - 10,080 0
Net unrealised gain on financial assets AT EEFABSSCHEE Y o)
at fair value through profit or loss RETF WS (590) - S
Loss on disposal of fixed assets HEBETEEERSIE 3,331 113,000 %
Amortisation of goodwill TR - 950,792 v
Auditors’ remuneration ZEREM BN & 340,000 335,000 §
Cost of inventories FERA 9,713,911 3,113,420 i
Depreciation e 476,397 685,288 il
Development expenses Hap% 284,460 278,185 o
Impairment loss on goodwill REZREEE - 6,338,616
Impairment loss on investment securities % & %% 2 B{EE1E - 234,340
Impairment loss on available-for-sale At ESREE 2 RERE
financial assets 241,165 -
Operating lease rentals of properties MERERS 1,044,479 1,173,388
Allowances for obsolete inventories BEFE 2 EE - 280,000
Allowances for doubtful debts RIS = 173,053
Staff costs including directors’ BRESME KRR ENEE
emoluments and retirement benefit Rz BIHA z
scheme contributions 45,105,050 47,195,092 %
Note:  Cost of inventories includes allowances for obsolete inventories of ik : FERABEFEERBANZT(CZTZTHF i
approximately $Nil (2005: $280,000) which is included in the amount 280,0007T) ' LLEFEREEE EXHAFES
disclosed separately above for the year. SHREE o

=
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z_-ZZXF=A=+—HBILFE UABTHIE)

s 2006 ~ETX<E | 2005 —BEEHLE

& $ T $ 7T

) Interest on bank loans and overdrafts RITER KB FIE 1,002,733 728,781

c5|>: Interest on other borrowings wholly RAFAREEZHMEEFNE

- repayable within five years 243,131 -

D

=}

2 1,245,864 728,781

o))

»
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o

=

D

=

(72}

(a) The amount of taxation in the consolidated income (a) e R 2 BIRE

o statement represents:

o)

puy

Al 2006 “FTAF | 2005 —FEHF

?‘_

al $ T $ T

Hong Kong profits tax EEMEH 150,000 -

Hong Kong profits tax is provided at 17.5% (2005: 17.5%) BEFSH RIRERBURTILA17.5% (ZF
based on the assessable profit for the year. THEF : 17.5%) 51 & °
No provision for income tax of the People’s Republic of REBRNFNEREARLME ([HE) &
China (the “PRC”) has been made in the financial AR 2 ) o A 7 R R I A R B 2 P
statements as the Group does not have any assessable 1585

profits for taxation purpose during the year in the PRC.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z—

(b)

The taxation on the Group’s profit/(loss) before taxation
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using

the applicable tax rate of the Group as follows:

Profit/(loss) before taxation BRI ALEF] (B18)

Tax at the applicable tax rate (17.5%) RIFERHEZFIE (17.5%)

URNER BB E

Tax effect of income that is not taxable 7 & & &R Fi i 71|
WA Z i a2

REETE R BT B R AT HI 8

Tax effect of temporary difference
HRRB
in determining taxable profit

Tax effect of expenses that are not

deductible in determining taxable X 2 B2
profit

Tax effect of unused tax losses REER R ARBATIEREE 2
not recognised R E

Tax effect of prior year’s tax losses FANBAHIEEEZ
utilised this year M E

Over-provision for the year FNBEEE

Taxation charges MIEER

The applicable tax rate represents the Hong Kong profits
tax rate prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions in which

the Group operates.

Deferred tax assets are not recognised for temporary
differences and tax losses carried forward due to
uncertainty of realisation of the related tax benefit through
the future taxable profits. The tax effect on temporary
differences and unrecognised tax losses was
approximately $8,033,000 (2005: $8,526,000) as at 31
March 2006. Included in unrecognised tax losses are
losses of $299,548, $974,677, $822,000 and $981,428
(2005: $299,548, $974,677 and $822,000 in 2006, 2008
and 2009 respectively) that will expire in 2006, 2008, 2009
and 2010 respectively according to the prevailing tax laws
and regulations in the country in which the Group operates.

Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

FEX

=

(b)

(c)

2006 —ZFZTRF

VFEZA=t—HIEFE CAVETIIE)

AEBBRBENET] (BE) 2 BiIEHE R ER
REBMERRERTE I mEB N

2005 —ZFEZThF

$T $T
743,760 (15,609,352)
130,158 (2,731,636)
23,704 57,078
(9,159) -
58,112 1,413,611
259,546 1,804,489
(354,310) (543,542)
41,949 -
150,000 -
HABEAASELESHRBITZHBNE
B o
B R A& 2 B m ME IR 2 AT F

Sz

WA NATE - O R R 2 R ARTRIE
EERERIHEEEHER - RZTZR
FZA=1+—8  EREERKRERRIEE
B2 HRIS5 248,033,000t (ZTZTHEF :
8,526,0007T) ° RIBFAEBEZ HEE L
BERRIEE - RERBERE299,548
JT ~ 974,6777T - 822,0007T }2981,4287T3f
DRIR=TTRF - —ZTTN\F -
RZZ—ZFKRIE(ZTTRHF : 299,548
JT ~ 974,67775%822,0007T * D Bl ==
TRF - ZEENFR_ZTAFRIE) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z_-ZZXF=A=+—HBILFE UABTHIE)

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing BIRAIER EMRBREB(REHEA E 16115 E

Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance ZEEMWEFIBFOT ¢
are as follows:
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits

and benefits scheme Total

Z
o
=
(¢
o
-
o
=
5]
D
-
=
o)
S
Sl
)
w
=
©
=
()
3
D
=
=
o

Name of director Fees in kind contributions ' emoluments
e EMK RIRAE A
EEHL W BEYF= IR [ A=
$t $T $T $T
Year ended 31 March 2006 BE—ZT X F=A
e _
=T—H g
g +—HLFE
o Executive Directors: WITES :
- Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent BESE - 615,184 12,000 627,184
o Mr. George Roger Manho EEEEE = 267,185 12,000 279,185
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung SR B ST A - 615,184 12,000 627,184
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah BgELE - 72,000 3,600 75,600
- 1,569,553 39,600 1,609,153
Independent non-executive B IEITES ¢
Directors:
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen FRERE L 240,000 - - 240,000
z Mr. Tsao Kwang Yung, Peter EBESEE 43,333 - - 43,333
= Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony CEP S 50,000 - - 50,000
g Mr. Tang Siu, Henry BWRELE 28,611 = = 28,611
361,944 - - 361,944
Total &5 361,944 1,569,553 39,600 1,971,097
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Name of director

BEnA

Year ended 31 March 2005

Executive Directors:
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Mr. George Roger Manho
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah

Independent non-executive
Directors:
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen
Mr. Tsao Kwang Yung, Peter
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony

Total

HE-_TTHF=A
=+—HILFE
BITES -

BIEH A
EEgEEE

e Pt
FFELSE

BYIFATES

FHERIE L
BREREE
BZA KL

During the year, no emoluments were paid to the directors as an

inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation

for loss of office.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or

agreed to waive any emoluments during the year.

HE-ZZRF=A=1+—HILFE AETIE

Fees

$7T

240,000

240,000

25,000

505,000

505,000

Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and benefits scheme Total

in kind contributions = emoluments
e MR RIRAEA
B IR [Tl A=
$T $T $T

621,283 12,100 633,383
537,383 12,100 549,483
621,283 12,100 633,383
72,000 3,630 75,630
1,851,949 39,930 1,891,879
- - 240,000
- - 240,000
- - 25,000
- - 505,000
1,851,949 39,930 2,396,879
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z_-ZZXF=A=+—HBILFE UABTHIE)

The five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group for REMNERFHALTHR WL (CEZEREF @D B
the year included two (2005: two) directors, details of whose B B (CETRF D ERaEFALZ
emoluments are presented above. The aggregate of the e zEmnT

emoluments in respect of the remaining three (2005: three) highest

paid individuals are as follows:

2006 —ZTRF 2005 —_ZTHF

Z
(@]
S
(¢
(72}
.
©
_
0
D
T
=}
Q
=}
o,
)
(09}
%
Q
©
()
3
D
5
=l
(72}

$ T $ T
Basic salaries, allowances and B - RA R H AR T
other benefits 1,912,340 2,038,290
Retirement benefits scheme contributions R {RAEF|aTE] 5% 36,000 36,000
= 1,948,340 2,074,290
o)
puy
i* The emoluments of the remaining three (2005: three) individuals = (ZFF =) &EEFATZHENFT
; are within the following bands: 5| 5[E
2006 —EZTRF 2005 _EERF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
ATHE ATEE
$Nil — $1,000,000 Z 71 —1,000,0007T 3 3
During the year, no emoluments were paid to the five highest FR - AEBVERATUSSHA TSNS -
z paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group REEREIMAREE - SEAMAZREER 2 42
g or as compensation for loss of office. Bk B AA1E -
The consolidated profit/(loss) attributable to shareholders of the IRERFEIGAR AT, (B518) B —%/$0223,6167T
Company includes a loss of $223,616 (2005: $15,609,352) which 2B (ZZEZRF  15,609,35270) © % EHIBELE

3
T

has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company. RAR R 2 TSR NERIR °
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z—

(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is based
on the profit attributable to shareholders of $593,760
(2005: loss attributable to shareholders of $15,609,352)
and the weighted average of 907,536,000 ordinary shares
(2005: 907,536,000 shares) in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

No diluted earnings/(loss) per share is presented for the
year as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in
existence during the years ended 31 March 2006 and
2005.

Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s
business and geographical segments. Business segment
information is chosen as the primary reporting format because

this is more relevant to the Group’s internal financial reporting.

(a) Business segments

The Group comprises the following main business

segments:
Smartcard systems, . The provision of
RFID and information smartcard systems, RFID
technology services and information
technology services.
Consultancy services :  The provision of

information technology

consultancy services

Electrical and mechanical:  The provision of electrical
installation and mechanical

installation work

FEX

=

(a)

(b)

VFEZA=t—HIEFE CAVETIIE)

BREAREFN, - (EIB)

BREARRF], (B1B) TR IR R EhE T
593,760 (ZZEZ R F : REBEERE
15,609,3527T) R FE R B BTG 2 IETF
HRE#907,536,000 % (TR F :
907,536,000/%) & imARETH ©

BREBERN, (&R

HRERNEEE R TN - HEE_
BRRF=A=T—HRZZEZRF=A=
+T-HIEEEVEZIGREFRF,
(F18) -

ERAEE 2 XBREEH 2N A EMER - K&

(a)
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(@)

Business segments (continued)

TURNOVER
Sales to external customers

RESULTS
Segment results

Unallocated corporate revenue
Unallocated corporate
expenses

Profit/(loss) from operations
Finance costs

Profit/(loss) before taxation
Taxation

Profit/(loss) for the year

ASSETS
Segment assets
Unallocated corporate assets

Consolidated total assets

LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities
Unallocated corporate liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

OTHER INFORMATION

Capital expenditure

Depreciation and amortisation

Unallocated depreciation and
amortisation

Impairment loss
Unallocated impairment loss

Allowances for obsolete
inventories

Non-cash expenses other than
depreciation, amortisation
and impairment loss

Smartcard systems,
RFID and information
technology services
BERAG SRR
RERMERS
2006 2005
ZEERE “E%1F
$7 $7
gx8
PREPZEE 28,042,696 9,842,520
S
AEE (279,589) ' (7,592,804)
ATARAANE
ATHRAAER
agas/ (58)
MERA
BiaaR/ (58)
WE
Epgil/ (58)
BE
Gk ESE 19,306,001 | 17,799,153
ATARAFAE
8
HHEE 4,976,387 7,441,599
AFOENAEE
Ak
EftER
BARX 179,091 76,568
TEREH 356,396 505,433
ATARMER
B
REEE 241,165 234,340
ATARRESE
It
- 280,000
FRERX
(& BHR
REGERN - -

B

ETER

(@)
Consultancy
services
BERK
2006 2005
ZE%5F | ZERRE
$7 $7
37,682,621 ' 38,541,801
4,897,867 3,661,487
11,961,412 7,848,932
5,823,364 7,796,936
2,081 44 845
120,001 151,276
- 173,053

FZA=1T—HLEFE CAVETIIE)

BEBKE D

(nﬁ

Electrical and
mechanical installation

HEL

2006
TETNE
$7

(55,386)

1378

71,761

al

E3

2005

—3%RE

$7

86,000

(715,987)

843,958

446,574

Consolidated

A

o=
2006 2005
“E55F “551%
$7 $7

65,725,317 ' 48,470,321
4,562,892 ' (4,647,304)
602,144 461,851
(3,175412)  (10,695,118)
1,989,624 1 (14,880,571)
(125864 (728,781)
743,760 1 (15,609,352)
(150,000) -
593,760 1 (15,609,352)
31,278,791 26,492,043
556,169 524 444
31,834,960 | 27,016,487
10871512 15,685,109
12,936,888 3,852,359
23,808400 | 19,537,468
181,172 121413
476,397 656,709

- 979,371

241,165 234,340

- 6,338,616

- 280,000

= 173,053



For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(b)

Geographical segments

The Group participates principally in Hong Kong, the PRC

and Macau.

In presenting information on the basis of geographical

segment, segment revenue is based on the geographical

location of customers. Segment assets and capital

expenditure are based on the geographical location of the

assets.
Revenue fromexternal ~ SREFKE
customers
Segment assets NHEE
Capital expenditure incurred FAEEZ
during the year BARX

Hong Kong
2006 2005
ZTERE | ZETRE
$7 ST
51,980,035 | 46,284,277
20207026 23,860,476
168,004 116,282

2006

P
=

12,879,117
105,031

1,285,766
15,233

=

A

ECEBRRE=A=+T—HILFE (CAETIE)

(b) IERZEHIRE D
AEBXTEERS  PENARRMPLE
Ea
TEIRISE I 2 F BRI - o B TR E
PATEMIRE S - HEHEERERFZ IR
BEMEMIEES -
The PRC Other locations Consolidated
hE Hfih &8
2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
e iv3 e 5ik3 ZEERF | ZETRE | ZEERE “3%1%F
ST $7 ST $7 $7 $7
705,482 887,153 160,683 13125 65,725,317 48,470,321
2,432,903 3,140,778 - - 31,834,960 27,016,487
13,168 5,131 - - 181,172 121413
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z_-ZZXF=A=+—HBILFE UABTHIE)

= The Group REH
]
o Computer
g Leasehold Furniture and other
- improvements ~ and fixtures equipment Total
2 BEDEEE | RAREE | BEEALR ~
o § 7 § 7 § 7 § 7
; Cost 2%
§J: At 1 April 2004 RZZTMFMA—H 380,126 572,353 3,636,899 4,589,378
g Additions R - 1,736 119,677 121,413
% Disposals/written off HE /D - (103,316) (271,899) (375,215)
;;Z At 31 March 2005 and K-TTEF=R=+-A
H 1 April 2005 RZZTRFMA—A 380,126 470,773 3,484,677 4,335,576
i* Additions =Y - 605 180,567 181,172
o Disposals/written off HE A - (2,387) (438,022) (440,409)
Exchange differences MEHZ% - 968 3,094 4,062
At 31 March 2006 RZETRF=A=1+—H 380,126 469,959 3,230,316 4,080,401
Accumulated depreciation Rt E
At 1 April 2004 RZZZWNFNA—H 44,721 397,152 2,781,380 3,223,253
Charge for the year FRITE 134,162 84,684 466,442 685,288
Disposals/written off e - (62,586) (172,815) (235,401)
; At 31 March 2005 and RZZTAF=RA=+—H
§ 1 April 2005 ;=ETRHFNA—A 178,883 419,250 3,075,007 3,673,140
i;c Charge for the year FANITE 134,162 32,312 309,923 476,397
g Disposals/written off HE /D - (2,387) (431,091) (433,478)
Exchange differences 2 - 790 2,429 3219
g At 31 March 2006 RZEE F=-A=+—H 313,045 449,965 2,956,268 3,719,278
g Net book value WREFE
At 31 March 2006 RZZETRF=A=1+—H 67,081 19,994 274,048 361,123

At 31 March 2005 RZBZERF=A=+—H 201,243 51,523 409,670 662,436



For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z —ZZ G =A=+—HItFEZ CABTIIE)

The Group A& g
$ 7T &
Cost A o
S
(0]
At 1 April 2005 and at 31 March 2006 R-BEERAFNA—ARR_EEF=A=1+—H 9,507,923 -
Accumulated amortisation RIEHEH g.
4
At 1 April 2004 RZZETMFMPA—A 2,218,515 )
Charge for the year o PO 4 950,792 3
5
(/)]
At 31 March 2005 and at 31 March 2006 R-—ZEZEHRF=A=+—HER_ZEZTZF=ZA=+—H 3,169,307
)‘E
o
Impairment loss WEEE o
it
At 1 April 2004 RZZEZTMFMPA—H - ;
Charge for the year F N 6,338,616
At 31 March 2005 and at 31 March 2006 R-ZEZHF=A=+—HER_ZEEF=A=+—H 6,338,616
Net book value i [ FHE
At 31 March 2006 RZETERF=A=+—H =
At 31 March 2005 RZZEZRAF=RA=+—H - z
s
3
The Company 72 &
2006 “EFTAF | 2005 “FTRF .
$ 7 $ 7T
Unlisted shares, at cost Ik ETARD (GRACA) 4,000,000 4,000,000 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEURHT B A B FIE = 26,014,876 |
4,000,000 30,014,876
Impairment loss RIEEE - (22,274,925)

4,000,000 7,739,951



For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z_-ZZXF=A=+—HBILFE UABTHIE)

= Details of the subsidiaries at 31 March 2006 are as follows: R-EEXNF=ZA=+—"8 MEBRARZFE
= T
(]
°© Place of Percentage Issued and
g incorporation/ of equity paid up
-n registration and attributable to share capital/
g Name operation the Company registered capital Principal activities
g_ EETRHREBK
= ey FEAAR 7 BRLAS i 3t B RRAB G B EMESR FEE
® Direct | Indirect
> HE E3
g ITE (BVI) Limited The British Virgin 100% - US$20,000 Investment holding
E Islands 20,000%7T | REER
RERELHS
=
ﬁ ITE Smartcard Hong Kong - 100% $3,418,336 Provision of smartcard
;; Solutions Limited B 3,418,3367T systems and related
= BEZRGARAT services and sales of
B smartcard related products
R BE R R4 AR R AR TS
AR HEBEREAESD
ITE Engineering Hong Kong - 100% $2 Provision of electrical
Limited D 27T and mechanical
installation services
REEM TR TIZRY
ITE Investment Hong Kong - 100% $2 Investment holding
z Limited BB 27T BB
=
i RF Tech Limited Hong Kong - 100% $2 Manufacture and research
% BB 27T of smartcard system
% related products
g HERFR S RRSR
MEREm
;? Rainbow Spirit Hong Kong - 100% $2 Dormant
g Limited it 2T | EEs%
2 EVBRERAT
Quesco Information Hong Kong - 100% $2 Commissioning of turnkey
Services Limited D 27T computer systems
EREMRBERAR development projects

REREABBRER
FEIE R



For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Name

e

ITE (China) Limited
(note (a))

B RE ERL
BRAE (M (a))

Global Confidence
Limited

Capital Ledger
Limited

Quesco Holdings
Limited
EREEERERAE

Quesco Systems
Limited
R FRGERAR AR

RS )
BFRAR] (note (b))
(GEAR)

ITE (Macau) Limited
Bz Z 5t ORFI)
BRATE

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operation

AR ST S48 3 Bh

The PRC
HE

The British Virgin
Islands
RBREZHS

The British Virgin
Islands
RBREZHS

Hong Kong

B

Hong Kong
B

The PRC
i

Macau
SR

Percentage

of equity

attributable to

the Company

KRBTGS

Direct
BH#E

Indirect
Bk
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

=

E-TEAF=AST—BILFE (BT

Issued and
paid up
share capital/
registered capital
EEITEBR EEBRK
B EMESR

US$700,000
700,000% 7T

Us$10
107

Us$54
543 7T

$5,000,000
5,000,0007C

$6,500,000
6,500,0007C

$600,000
600,0007TC

MOP25,000
25,000%] 7T

Principal activities

TEXRG

Provision of smartcard
systems and
related services

REE 8RR 5 AR IR TS

Investment holding
BB

Investment holding
BB

Investment holding
BB

Provision of information
technology consultancy
services

R E AR R IR

Not yet commenced
business
RFIRE?

Provision of smartcard
systems and related
services and sales
of smartcard
related products

REE 8RR 5 AR RS
LA SHE BB RABREE @

m
ag
o
@
@
g
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free

and not repayable within the next twelve months.

Notes:

(a) ITE (China) Limited is a wholly foreign owned enterprise with an

operating period of 20 years expiring on 26 June 2021.

(b) RIS (ZRF) AR AR is a wholly foreign owned enterprise with an
operating period of 15 years expiring on 18 April 2018.

Unlisted investment, at cost FE LR EFEFH (R A)
Less: Impairment loss A OREEE

In accordance with HKAS 39 investment securities were
redesignated on 1 April 2005 as available-for-sale financial assets
(note 19).

—EEREZA=THIEFE CUETTIE)

FEWHE ARG AEER 28 TEAER
AR+ EAREE

i

(a) ;‘@WSUZR*“%’?%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ"ﬁﬁ—%ﬂﬁﬁ;ﬁﬁ
¥ KEHAR20F RZT=_—FA=+~H
HAm ©

(b) BRI 8 BRARA—FINEBELE
KEHRI5F R-_F— \FOH+TN\BHH -

The Group A&
2006 —ZFZNF 2005 —TZTRHF
$ T $ 7T
- 2,830,189
- (580,519)

- 2,249,670

REFBGTENFING REEFNR_FTTAF
mMA—-REMEEAAHEESREE HiFZ19) -



For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z —ZZ G =A=+—HItFEZ CABTIIE)

The Group A& [E g
2006 —ZZNF 2005 —TTRHF &
$ 7 $ 7T S
Unlisted investment, at cost LR AEFE S RKA) 2,912,621 - ::D;
Less: Impairment loss B OREEE (838,592) - L
o}
=
2,074,029 - g-
2
Guaranteed fund, at fair value REES (RATHEMB) 1,453,864 - )
3
3,527,893 - %
(72}
The fair value of the unlisted investment cannot be measured RIEETREFZTHWETRTIZER - #UREER i
reliably as there is no active market for the trading of the SEHATFEE - FLTREFFUARK RSB - -
investment at arm’s length. The unlisted investment is i
denominated in Renminbi. a
The fair value of the guaranteed fund is based on quoted market REZSUTHERRATEE  AETREMLT
price. It will mature on 24 December 2008 and is denominated in RIZZBZNE+_AZTHEBHR - RZTZTREF
US dollars. At 31 March 2006, the guaranteed fund was pledged ZA=1+—H  REEZSEEMFRITURE K
for banking facilities granted to the Group (note 32(d)). RITELE (M15E32(d)) °
Following the adoption of HKAS 39 in 2006, certain financial RIZBZEXRFHRABBEHENFEIE RZZT
assets were redesignated as available-for-sale financial assets AFOA—H ETemEENSHHEAAIMHEE
at 1 April 2005. SREE - :
s
The Group A& E 3
2006 =T NF 2005 — T RHF
$ T $T
Equity securities listed in B EMRAFE S (RHE)
Hong Kong, at market value - 21,670 5
In accordance with HKAS 39 trading securities were redesignated BREBEEBGTEREER  BEEEFSFN_TTAF
on 1 April 2005 as financial assets at fair value through profit or MA—BENEEAKRATEAEFAEBREHERE

loss (note 21). (FfE21) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BEZTRF=A=1+—HILFE BB

Equity securities listed in BB EMRAE SR (RATEEB)

Hong Kong, at fair value

The fair value of these securities are based on quoted market

prices.

Following the adoption of HKAS 39 in 2006, certain financial
assets were redesignated as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss at 1 April 2005.

The Group AEE
2006 —ZEFNF 2005 —_EERHF

$7T $ T

22,260 =

HEBFATHERBATER -

HE-FEATRATSUIEANE0NE R=F

THEMA—RB  BETEREEASHEER/ZA
FEEFARRESRHEE -

The Group AEE
2006 —ZEFNF 2005 —_EERHF

$T $ T
Raw materials R 1,057,812 1,003,752
Work in progress EELT 69,555 37,089
Finished goods BURK 804,829 1,018,808
1,932,196 2,059,649
The Group A4£E The Company A2 ]
2006 —ZZRF 2005 —2ZTHF 2006 ZTZ5F | 20056 —TTRHF
$t $ $ $ T
Trade receivables, net (note (a)) FEWE SR OFE) (FHizE(a)) 4,747,860 4,620,621 = =
Other receivables (note (b)) H b 4% 5% (it 3% (b)) 415,307 501,523 160,158 139,703
Gross amount due from EWEF ZRBEHTIE
customers for service AL (fi5k25)
contract work (note 25) 4,394,629 1,979,994 - -
Retention money receivables ElREE 267,364 304,408 - -
Amount due from subsidiaries FEU KT A 708 (HiFE(c))
(note (c)) - - 3,904,705 -
9,825,160 7,406,546 4,064,863 139,703



For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z —ZZ G =A=+—HItFEZ CABTIIE)

(@)  The Group has a policy of allowing its trade customers (a) REBZBRAT R TEESEP—BN T
with credit period normally between 30 to 60 days or terms 30HZE60R 2 ZEH - BB HESR.Z
in accordance with contracts. The ageing analysis, based R - IREZ BT EHIRKR AT ¢ s
on invoice date, is as follows: §
o
The Group A% The Company 72 &) :25
2006 —TZ5F 12005 T HF | 2006 —ZTTNF 12005 — TS HEF i
§ 7 § 7 $ 7t $ 7 B
Within 1 month —BAR 3,190,638 2,552,186 - - =
1 month to 3 months —ZE={iA 1,022,418 1,115,256 - - 0
More than 3 months but HBB=1EA =
less than 12 months BLR+=EA 490,324 744,021 - - g
More than 1 year but HBR—FELRME %
less than 2 years 37,140 209,158 - - -
More than 2 years R 7,340 - - - g
Py
4,747 860 4,620,621 - - o
=
By
(b) Included in other receivables was an amount of $331,722 (b) FEHAMIRRP - BIERE331,7227T (ZEF
(2005: $245,687) advanced to an ex-director of a F4F : 245,6877T) TBE T—AIMIB A RIRTE
subsidiary. The amount is unsecured, interest bearing at = EFIEAREER  REFEI10EZR12
10% to 12% per annum (2005: prime rate plus 0.5%) and BE(ZZTRF : HEBEFEN0.5%) &
repayable on demand. FE KA RE ESRK(EE
(c) The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest (c) FENFT B A R IES A EER - 2 S RAMRE

free and repayable on demand. ESRIEE o
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z—

(a)

(b)

Trade payables (note (a))
Accrued charges and
other payables
Other borrowings (note (b))
Gross amount due to
customers for service
contract work (note 25)
Deferred maintenance income ;

Retention money payable

Included in creditors and accrued charges are trade

payables with the following ageing analysis:

Within 1 month
1 month to 3 months
More than 3 months

but less than 12 months
More than 1 year but

less than 2 years

More than 2 years

TERNF=RA=+—HBIEFE GUETHIE)
The Group A%E The Company 72 ]
2006 —Z 53 2005 —TTRHF | 2006 T NF 20056 —TTHEF
$T $T $ T $ T
e B SRR (M3 (a)) 2,296,859 844,016 - -
FEAT 5 A K H b iR K
8,033,715 6,485,699 811,857 402,676
HinfEE (HE(b) 974,849 = = =
ERNEF 2z REEHIE
FORLEHE (H1525)
611,206 1,856,284 - -
EIERERA 735,215 726,936 - -
FEFHRE 14,400 327,954 - -
12,666,244 10,240,889 811,857 402,676
(a) FERTIR R KR FEST B R B IEIE T B S IR FIRE
ZHEEHERESTOT ¢
The Group A% The Company 72 ]
2006 —Z 5734 1 2005 —TTRF | 2006 T F 12005 —TTHEF
$T $ T $T $ T
—EAR 468,388 270,117 - -
—Z=f8A 928,151 206,370 - -
BR=EAEBLR+=EA
832,159 207,097 - -
BB —FEORRmE
7,921 4,980 - -
HiBmE 60,240 155,452 - -
2,296,859 844,016 - -

Other borrowings are unsecured and bear interest ranging

from 10% to 12% per annum and repayable on demand.

(b)

Hibfg & RMIER - RERE10EE12
[EEEN S RI AR EZREER



For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Cost incurred plus attributable
profit less foreseeable losses

Less: Progress billings

Gross amount due from
customers for service
contract work (note 23)

Gross amount due to
customers for service

contract work (note 24)

Secured bank loans (note 32)
Secured bank overdrafts
(note 32)

BB AR DA AR &
AERZER
o EE N R

BWEFZIRIEEHIRIIBHEEE
(Fff5E23)

ENEP ZIREAHTIEZIaEEE
(HI5E24)

BEMBITER
BHEIRRITE

(M15£32)
3 (P47E32)

The Group’s bank loans bear interest ranging from approximately
5.25% to 8.5% per annum (2005: 5% to 5.75%) for the year ended

31 March 2006. The loan is a revolving term loan and repayable

on demand.

The Group’s bank overdrafts bear interest ranging from
approximately 5.75% to 8.5% per annum (2005: 5.5% to 5.75%)

for the year ended 31 March 2006.

=

s —
£= —

BERE=ZA=T—HILFE (CAETIE)

The Group A& [E

2006 —ZTRF 2005 —ZETHF
$7T $ T
16,876,888 15,259,012

(13,093,465) (15,135,302)

3,783,423 123,710
4,394,629 1,979,994

(611,206) (1,856,284)
3,783,423 123,710

The Group A& [E
2006 =T NF 2005 — T RHF

$T $T

5,397,009 5,399,823

5,737,070 3,480,126

11,134,079 8,879,949
HE_ZZF=ZA=1+—RHLLFE  x5EEZR
ITERIZFEREL5.25EE8.5E (ZTZTHF : 5)E
Z=5.75/B) ;BRI B - MERHBRERLARE K
&z o

HE_ZTRNF-A=1+—HLEE  xEEZR
TBESZHRFER RS 75BE85E (TS HF ¢
5.5[EE5.75E) ;T EFIS -

Z
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z_-ZZXF=A=+—HBILFE UABTHIE)

g The Group A% E

o 2006 “TEAE | 2005 “TEHEF

S $ 7 $ 7T

C% Interest bearing borrowing ENB 2B

. Secured bank loan (note 32) BIEPRITER (H15E32) - 416,630

§ Less: Current portion W : ENERERE - (416,630)

o

Q)

0 Non-current portion FERNERER D - =

)

% The secured bank loan is BHEIPRITERZEFAT -

% repayable as follows:

?l; Within one year —FR - 416,630

o In the second year F_F - -

iﬁ In the third to fifth years, inclusive F£=FZFRHF - =

=

- 416,630

The Group’s long term secured bank loan bears interest ranging BHE_ZTTF=ZA=T—HILFE  FTEBZK
from approximately 5.25% to 7.25% per annum (2005: 5% to AR ESIRENRL5.25EF7.25E (ZETH
5.25%) for the year ended 31 March 2006. The loan was fully & BEZES525F)FEAE - MUERNR=ZTH
repaid on 13 June 2005. FEXRA+T=A2EE -

9002-5002 14043 TVYNNNY
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SRR
S ARTEE0.017E 40 X B

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of $0.01 each

Issued and fully paid: BT R
At 1 April 2005 and R-ZEREMA—BR
31 March 2006 —EEXF=ZA=1+—H

The Company adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-
IPO Scheme”) and a post-IPO share option scheme (the “Post-
IPO Scheme”) on 12 February 2001. In addition, the Company
adopted a 2002 share option scheme (the “2002 Scheme”) on 8
August 2002, and the Pre-IPO Scheme and the Post-IPO Scheme
were simultaneously terminated. Upon termination of the Pre-IPO
Scheme and the Post-IPO Scheme, no further options may be
offered thereunder. However, in respect of the outstanding options,
the provisions of the Pre-IPO Scheme and the Post-IPO Scheme
shall remain in force. The outstanding options granted under the
Pre-IPO Scheme and the Post-IPO Scheme shall continue to be
subject to the provisions of the Pre-IPO Scheme and the Post-
IPO Scheme, respectively, and the provisions of Chapter 23 of
the GEM Listing Rules and the adoption of the 2002 Scheme will
not in any event affect the terms in respect of such outstanding

options.

=

s —
£= —

BERE=ZA=T—HILFE (CAETIE)

Number of shares Amount
e o
$T
2,000,000,000 20,000,000
907,536,000 9,075,360
AARIRZET—F A+ -HEM—BLETAIZ

B g2 (fiﬁﬁ?ﬁé\m N—TH E IR Z IR HE
stEI(TEmEAE) - R=TFF_FNANA - &
RARH—_TE _FREEREAS (2T 55
2]) MREEF A e EATEt 8 EiREEl o L
RIS & ETRET BIAR IE1R - DS BREET SR
2 EAIBAAE o MR RTT 2 BRE - LEIRE S
FEAAE LR - LAl &I R EWIRE Bl ARTTREZ
BRI R R D R RZ AR BIR M - AR EH
RAE -+ =BR T _FHEBTEZELR
RAT IR R 2 (R 16AR -




For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z_-ZZXF=A=+—HBILFE UABTHIE)

(@) Pre-IPO Scheme and Post-IPO Scheme (a) LEmAIFTEIR EHmEEE
As mentioned above, the Pre-IPO Scheme and the Post- LA F4R K - ETIRTETEI R ETEAtEIR=E
IPO Scheme were terminated on 8 August 2002 and no SFNANBLKIE - AT BEET
further options may be offered thereunder. Details of the FERRME - REAN M ARITEZBRE 2B
outstanding share options of these schemes during the I

year are as follows:

Number of share options &Rz B

Z
o
=
(¢
o
-
o
—~
5]
D
il
=
o)
S
Sl
)
w
=
©
=
()
3
D
=
=
o

Number of Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
category of at 1 April during during the during the at 31 March
participant 2005 the year year year 2006
RZZTRF
N =RA=1+-AH
BBRELE BRI MA—REATR  RERRE RERTTHR REREK ARITE
& Pre-IPO Scheme
= FnEtEl
P
st Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent/Director 6,109,440 - - - 6,109,440
= BEk B35
George Roger Manho/Director 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
B/ %
Cheng Kwok Hung/Director 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
HEk g%
Liu Hoi Wah/Director 19,112,640 - - - 19,112,640
Ell-ES £
Lee Peng Fei, Allen/Director 1,760,000 - - - 1,760,000
THR E2
z Employees 35,157,920 - - - 35,157,920
E &8
% 70,140,000 - - - 70,140,000
g Post-IPO Scheme
i ksl
Employees 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000
=

5
m
I
=)
@
@
[
@
a

2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000



For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Date granted

REAH

12 February 2001
“ET-F-A+ZH

12 February 2001
—EZ-F-A+CH

12 February 2001
—EZ-F_A+ZH

12 February 2001
“ZR-5_A+ZH

12 February 2001
“ET-F-A+ZH

12 February 2001
—EZ-F-AtZH

28 December 2001
“FFFTZA-TNA

Period during which
options exercisable

BB

21 August 2001 to 11 February 2011
2R )\AZt-BEZ—F-A+t-H

21 August 2001 to 11 February 2011
—FZ—§\AZ+—-HZT—%=-A+-H

21 August 2001 to 11 February 2011
“IT-FN\AZ+—HEZZT——4ZA+-AH

21 August 2001 to 11 February 2011
—ZT-FfN\A-+-RE-F——F_A+—H

21 August 2001 to 11 February 2011
2R )\AZt-BEZ—F-A+t-H

21 August 2001 to 11 February 2011
ZEE-FNAZ+-REZF——F=A+—H

1 July 2004 to 31 December 2011
“ZENELA-HE-T——F+-A=t+—H

="

E-TEAF=AST—BILFE (BT

Price per share to be paid
on exercise of options

Sl
Bt SRIER

$0.095
0.0957T

$0.095
0.0957T

$0.095
0.0957

$0.095
0.0957T

$0.095
0.0957T

$0.095
0.0957T

$0.195
0.1957C

Market value per share
at date of grant of options

REBRRE R 2 RIATE

N/A
TNEm

N/A
TEm

N/A
i

N/A
NER

N/A
TNEm

N/A
et

$0.195
0.1957C
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(b)

2002 Scheme

The Company operates the 2002 Scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Eligible participants of the 2002 Scheme include the
Company’s directors, including independent non-executive
directors, other employees of the Group, suppliers of
goods or services to the Group, customers of the Group,
advisers and consultants, etc. The 2002 Scheme became
effective on 8 August 2002 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years

from that date.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the 2002 Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed
30% of the total number of shares of the Company in issue.
The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible participant in the 2002 Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company
within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit is subject to

shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to director, chief executives or
substantial shareholders of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or
to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the
date of the grant) in excess of $5 million, within any 12-
month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in

advance in a general meeting.

B
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(b)
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(b)

2002 Scheme (continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 21 days from the date of the offer upon payment of
a nominal consideration of $1 in total by the grantee. The
exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors, and commences after a
certain vesting period and ends on a date which is not
later than 10 years from the date of the offer of the share

options or the expiry date of the 2002 Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share option is determinable by
the directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of the
offer of the share options; (ii) the average closing price of
the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the

nominal value of the share.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2002 Scheme (continued)

Details of the outstanding share options of the 2002

Scheme during the year are as follows:

Number or Outstanding
category of at 1 April
participant 2005
R_ZBTREF
RERELA R M A—RERITE
Employees 3,500,000
&8
An Employee 6,400,000
B8
9,900,000

At 31 March 2006, the number of shares outstanding and
issuable under the Pre-IPO Scheme, the Post-IPO scheme
and the 2002 Scheme were 70,140,000, 2,000,000 and
9,900,000, respectively.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to

dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

BEZTRF=A=1+—HILFE BB

(b) =Z=2-FF3E

REANRAKITEC =TT G518 2 B
ZEEBIT ¢

Number of share options FRx &% B

Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
during during the during the at 31 March
the year year year 2006

ZETRE
EfEr—E

RERERL RERTTE REREK I ARITE
- - - 3,500,000

et

_ - - 6,400,000

9,900,000

R-ZZETNF=ZA=+—H ' LtHaltE - EHEAERS
ST _FFEIABITZRHEE SR A70,140,000 »
2,000,000%%29,900,000 °

BB R T A AMEUR B RN BER A SR 2 A -



For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZE—ZZRXF=A=+—HFEF CABTIIE)

Market value

SjuswalelS |eloueUl{ 8y} O] S38JON

Period during which Price per share to be paid per share at date of
Date granted options exercisable on exercise of options grant of options
TR R KR
b=l BIRETRS AXN 2 GRER ERZBRTE .
9 August 2002 9 August 2003 to 8 August 2012 $0.175 $0.175 g‘g
—ZZ_F\AAR “EE=E\ANBEZE-—F/\A/\H 0.1757T 01757 HH
it
9 August 2002 9 February 2003 to 8 August 2012 $0.175 $0.175 a
e S AV ViR=! ZEE=F-ANBEZT—ZF/\AN\H 01757 01757
2
%
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z_-ZZXF=A=+—HBILFE UABTHIE)

= (a) The Company (a) ZN/NC]
]
) Share Accumulated
g premium losses Total
- BRinmE ZHEEE CH)
g- Note (b) FizE(b)
o § 72 $ 7 $ 7
D
) Balance at 1 April 2004 RZZTZTWFMA— B4 22,816,249 (8,803,238) 14,013,011
3
% Loss for the year FREE - (15,609,352) (15,609,352)
;i Balance at 31 March 2005 W_ZZHF=A=+—H&H% 22,816,249 (24,412,590) (1,596,341)
puy
'i* Loss for the year FNEE - (223,616) (223,616)
=
Balance at 31 March 2006 W=_ZZ F=A=+—H#&#% 22,816,249 (24,636,206) (1,819,957)
(b) The application of the share premium account is governed (b) R ER 2 BARZARR 2 M ETRH
by the Company’s articles of association and the Cayman Al - MEFEEERRIEAMRAE - ZEHBX
Islands Companies Law, which provides that the share FRE ARV (B IR AT AR 1M ER 75 R sk 2 A AR
premium account may be applied in making distributions RRE - EEEEEESNOIRSREZH
or paying dividends to members, provided that immediately LA - RARNDARENTE B B EBEBIRR
following the date on which distribution or dividend is NHEERELE -
z proposed to be paid, the Company will be able to pay its
g debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
f (c) The Group’s merger reserve represents the difference (c) AEEZEHRERBER_STZTF+—A+
5 between the aggregate of the nominal value of the share NEARSEEEER - EBAZROEERL
capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group RERBMEBITRINEE °

reorganisation completed on 18 November 2000 over the

3
T

nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued

in exchange therefor.
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”)
scheme operated by an approved MPF trustee for its staff in Hong
Kong. All eligible staff and the Group make mandatory
contributions in compliance with the requirements of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.

The subsidiaries operating in the PRC are required to participate
in defined contribution retirement schemes, organised by relevant
government authorities for the staff in the PRC. The subsidiaries
are required to make contributions to the retirement schemes at
certain rates of the basic salary of their employees in the PRC.

The Group’s retirement costs charged to the income statement
for the year were $1,633,868 (2005: $1,570,486).

At 31 March 2006 the Group had general banking facilities granted
by banks to the extent of approximately $19 million (2005: $15.6
million). The facilities were secured by the following:

(a) corporate guarantees executed by the Company;

(b) personal guarantees executed by three directors of the
Company;

(c) the Group’s fixed deposits of $15,323,997 (2005:
$13,594,808).

(d) the Group’s available-for-sale financial assets of
$1,453,864 (2005: $Nil).

At 31 March 2006, the Group’s total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of
properties are payable as follows:

Within one year —FR
After one year but within five years —F%& L F R

HE-ZZRF=A=1+—HILFE AETIE

AEFEER/EBFEREMBZE—HRHEAES
(efESl) 518 Zat#lm— &gz BEmeR
FEAEHE - FTEAERE TAAKES ARG
RIEEFHENED 2 R ERBIPER -

ARBFEZHEAREEMBFHERKE RS
iR 82 THERKEFETE o B A BRI
BRI BIRE 2 MEAEEEAR T EEH AR
ZHEK

REBMAERFE T AUE R 2 B A 1,633,868
T(ZZEZTHF : 1,570,4867T) °

R-BERE=A=1+—H  AEEERTRLEZ
—MRIRITRIE £ 4919,000,000 T (Z R F ¢
15,600,0007T) ° Bh& Z LA

(a) RARZBEFER

(b) RAR=ZBEBZEAER

(c) NEE HE15,323,997 T (CETHEF -

13,594,8087T) 2 & HA1F 3K

" AEEATHHE SRS E A1 453,8647T
(ZF20F  F7) -

REZBZRF=A=+—0 AEEREEEYE
Z A EGEHEE AR B &N Z RIEEER
/IR -

2006 —ZTRF 2005 —ZZTRhEF

$T $ 7T
711,938 1,308,922
169,351 195,158

881,289 1,504,080




For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

At 31 March 2006, the Company has undertaken to guarantee
certain banking facilities granted to two wholly-owned subsidiaries
to the extent of $19 million (2005: $15.6 million).

At 31 March 2006, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (2005: $Nil).

Three directors of the Company have provided personal
guarantees to the extent of $31 million (2005: $28 million) to the
Group in relation to general banking facilities granted to the Group.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate
risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
(a) Foreign exchange risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk
as most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United
States dollars and Renminbi. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
foreign currency debt. The Group will monitor its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

(b) Creditrisk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.

It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history.

The carrying amount of the trade and other receivables
included in the consolidated balance sheet represents the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
the Group’s financial assets.

The credit risk on other financial instruments is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit-
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

B

e =

A=1+—B1LFE ETIIE)

RFE=RA=+—H ' AREHEELTHRE
Bz A TIRTREE M2 19,000,0007T
: 15,600,0007T) Z #E4R °

TTHF : |) -

ARRIZ —EFHAEE 2 A TRITRE MR
31,000,0007T (= FZF R4 : 28,000,0007T) Z EA
PR o
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For the year ended 31 March 2006 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements

in the short and longer term.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s significant interest-bearing assets are bank
deposits. The Group’s interest income is dependent on
changes in market interest rates and will not have
significant adverse impact on the Group’s financial

position.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from its
short term borrowings. These borrowings bear interests

at rates varying with the then prevailing market condition.
Fair values
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and

financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated balance

sheet approximate their respective fair values.

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors
on 23 June 2006.
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Five Year Summary 1 F =

2005/06 2004/05 2003/04 2002/03 2001/02
“ERRZENE | ZBENERREF | ZET=FEMF | -FT-FT=F  _"FTT-ZFT_F
$ $ $ $ $
T T T T T

Results ES |
Turnover EEm 65,725,317 48,470,321 61,842,809 77,301,806 62,848,428
Profit/(loss) from operations  &A%F/ (&8 1,089,624 (14,880,571) (11,317,375) (20,798,775) 5,280,406
Finance costs BARA (1,245,864) (728,781) (721,055) (582,385) (142,724)
Profit/(loss) from ordinary REABREEKZ

activities before taxation w7l (B18) 743,760 (15,609,352) (12,038,430) (21,381,160) 5,137,682
Taxation BIE (150,000) - - 167,399 (303,802)
Profit/(loss) attributable to PR FE(S

shareholders $wAl/ (B518) 593,760 (15,609,352) (12,038,430) (21,213,761) 4,833,880
Earnings/(loss) per share SRER/ (H8)
Basic HA 0.07 cent fll (1.72 cents fll) | (1.33 cents fll) | (2.34 cents L) 0.53 cent fll
Diluted &g N/A TNEH N/A TNEH N/A & F (2.28 cents {l) 0.50 cent 1l
Assets and liabilities EEHEE
Fixed assets EEEE 361,123 662,436 1,366,125 2,189,258 3,292,969
Goodwill BE - - 7,289,408 8,240,200 9,190,992
Investment securities REES = 2,249,670 2,484,010 2,722,406 =
Available-for-sale financial assets F/{tHESREE 3,527,893 = = = =
Net current assets MBEEFA 4,137,544 4,566,913 12,365,458 24,058,247 43,901,763
Total assets less current liabilities Z&EHREEE 8,026,560 7,479,019 23,505,001 37,210,111 56,385,724
Non-current liabilities EMBAE - - (416,630) (2,083,310) -
Net assets AEFE 8,026,560 7,479,019 23,088,371 35,126,801 56,385,724
Share Capital B 9,075,360 9,075,360 9,075,360 9,075,360 9,079,960
Reserves B (1,048,800) (1,596,341) 14,013,011 26,051,441 47,305,764
Shareholders’ funds BRES 8,026,560 7,479,019 23,088,371 35,126,801 56,385,724
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Characteristics of GEM

GEM has been established as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a high investment
risk may be attached. In particular, companies may
list on GEM with neither a track record of profitability
nor any obligation to forecast future profitability.
Furthermore, there may be risks arising out of the
emerging nature of companies listed on GEM and the
business sectors or countries in which the companies
operate. Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more
suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on
GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than

RF Tech Limited

Wil"lning P ':.ﬂ: ""Eulﬂ'.nnlit by securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance
roduct: utomated P&Ssenper M ment . is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities

Snagement System (apws) ded on GEM

traded on .

Omgren Sre =easme
Comcrm R borbg huhﬁah““h

The principal means of information dissemination on
GEM is publication on the internet website operated
by the Stock Exchange. Listed companies are not
generally required to issue paid announcements in
gazetted newspapers. Accordingly, prospective
investors should note that they need to have access
to the GEM website in order to obtain up-to-date
information on GEM-listed issuers.
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